

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Leadership Strategies of Successful Women-Owned Businesses in Cameroon

Henry Ntoko Ajieh Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Administration, Management, and Operations Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Ntoko Henry Ajieh

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. James Glenn, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Gregory Uche, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Yvonne Doll, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Leadership Strategies of Successful Women-Owned Businesses in Cameroon

by

Ntoko Henry Ajieh

MBA, Walden University, 2015

B.Sc., University of Buea, 2002

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Specialization: Leadership

Walden University

November 2021

Abstract

Lack of leadership skills in women-led businesses can result in high business failure rates. Women business owners who do not know how to improve their leadership skills could face difficulties succeeding in business. Grounded in the transformational leadership theory, the purpose of this multiple case study was to explore strategies that women business owners in the events planning business use to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. The participants included five women in the events planning business in Cameroon, Central Africa, who successfully developed strategies to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. Data were collected via semistructured interviews, publicly available documents, and observations of participants' business facilities. Yin's 5-step data analysis process was used to analyze data. Three themes emerged: embracing leadership attributes, acquiring leadership capabilities, and conceptualizing the playing field. The key recommendation from this study is for women business owners to attain leadership attributes such as engagement ability, accountability, courage, and humility through mentoring, followership, experience, and training. The implications for positive social change include the potential to improve business performance, improve job creation and standard of living, reduce crime, and increase tax revenue to the local government.

Leadership Strategies of Successful Women-Owned Businesses in Cameroon

by

Ntoko Henry Ajieh

MBA, Walden University, 2015

B.Sc., University of Buea, 2002

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Specialization: Leadership

Walden University

November 2021

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my wife, Comfort. You have been my strength and support system throughout these years. Thank you for standing by me day and night, listening to my academic ambitions, and sacrificing your time and energy to see me through this journey. I want to thank you and tell the world that you are the best. For my kids, Malea, Jemimah, Kidege, and Henry, your desire of your father being called Doctor Henry has finally come true. Thank you, my Love, my Angel, my Peace, and my King, for inspiring me and giving me a reason to dream and achieve. To my father, Rev. Dr. Ntoko, thank you for giving me a reason to believe in myself and work hard to get here. Your constant advice, check, and encouragement was always timely. I also dedicate this work to my late mother, Malea. Thanks to my siblings Allen, Olive, Eric, Annette, and Edenge, you guys were an incredible support team, and it is my life with you that has encouraged me to know that I can do anything if I put in the required effort. Lastly, I want to dedicate this work to my late younger brother, Ntoko Christian-Luke Sone. Little brother, you dreamed of earning a Doctorate one day and becoming a Professor. That dream was cut short when you left at just 14. Since then, I dreamed for you, and I dreamed for me. Today that dream has been achieved, and I am glad I can still put a smile on your face even when you are in heaven.

Acknowledgments

I want to express my sincere appreciation to my chair, Dr. James "Jim" Glenn, who has mentored and guided me throughout this academic journey with patience, encouragement and has inspired me to believe in myself. I want to extend my gratitude and appreciation to committee members, Dr. Greg Uche and Dr. Yvonne Doll, for their insightful comments, encouragement, and positive feedback that has enabled me to accomplish this academic milestone. I appreciate all the time, the effort you have put in to review my work to this level. Your perspectives helped shape my doctoral study and made me a better person in the scholarly world. To my fellow course mates, I accomplished my doctoral studies at Walden because of your everyday discussions and insights and the enormous ideas we discussed that have improved my person as a scholar. I appreciate my dear colleagues at work who created time to discuss and contribute to my studies. Thanks to participants of my study and scholars before me. Without them, I would not have been able to accomplish this great task.

Table of Contents

ist of Tables	iv
ection 1: Foundation of the Study	.1
Background of the Problem	.1
Problem and Purpose	.2
Population and Sampling	.3
Nature of the Study	.3
Research Question	.5
Interview Questions	.5
Conceptual Framework	.6
Operational Definitions	.6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	.7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	8
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	.8
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	0
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	.0
Transition4	13
ection 2: The Project4	ŀ5
Purpose Statement	15

Role of the Researcher	45
Participants	47
Research Method and Design	49
Research Method	49
Research Design	50
Population and Sampling	52
Ethical Research.	54
Data Collection Instruments	55
Data Collection Technique	56
Data Organization Technique	58
Data Analysis	58
Reliability and Validity	60
Reliability	60
Validity	60
Transition and Summary	62
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	63
Introduction	63
Presentation of the Findings	63
Application to Professional Practices	79
Implications for Social Change	81
Recommendations for Action	82
Recommendation for Further Research	83

Reflections	84
Conclusion	85
References	87
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	123
Appendix B: Invitation Email	124
Appendix C: CITI Certification	125

List of Tables

Table 1. Details of Literature Review by Year of Publication	11
Table 2. Frequency of Themes	69

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

The events planning business is a revenue and employment source in local economies (Heesterman 2016). Kim and Dombrosky (2016) said the creation and management of events attracts visitors who spend money, thereby boosting economic growth. However, some women entrepreneurs fail when managing business ventures (Yang & Triana, 2017). Considering the nature of the events planning business, business leaders need a specific skill set to remain successful. According to Almahry et al. (2018), women entrepreneurial ventures fail because of a lack of leadership skills.

Background of the Problem

Chinomona and Kwame (2015) stated that women own and manage approximately 50% of businesses in sub-Saharan Africa. The female entrepreneur's role is evident in terms of productivity, job creation, and economic growth. Despite the benefits of female entrepreneurship, women entrepreneurs still face a wide variety of challenges when starting and growing their own businesses (Bharthrajan, 2014).

Goswami (2019) explained that besides access to capital, women entrepreneurs faced challenges in starting and running their own business because of a lack of leadership skills. In SMEs, 7% of female leaders held leadership positions within 3 to 5 years, and only 13% of female leaders have been in leadership positions for more than 10 years (Husain & Xiao, 2016). According to Yang and Triana (2017), women-led businesses have high failure rates. Yang and Triana (2017) said reasons why women-led businesses have high failure rates include low expectations about female entrepreneurs, and lack of confidence of entrepreneurs when pursuing business ventures.

In Africa, more women participate in business, with women leadership making significant contributions to economic development (Bahiru & Mengistu, 2018). Despite the socioeconomic benefits of women entrepreneurship, Kamberidou (2020) noted women's entrepreneurship and leadership potential still remained largely untapped. In this study, my aim was to explore strategies that women business owners in the events planning business use to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. The study's findings and conclusion could contribute to the enhancement of business knowledge to improve leadership skills and provide a framework for Cameroonian women entrepreneurs to conduct business successfully and sustainably.

Problem and Purpose

Women's participation in business in Africa has increased, with women leadership significantly contributing to economic development by creating higher-performing businesses (Bahiru & Mengistu, 2018). The general business problem is that some owners in the events planning business have limited leadership skills precluding them from growing their businesses and competitively positioning and branding their businesses which leads to lost market share and profitability. The specific business problem is that some women business owners in the events planning business lack strategies to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years.

Therefore, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that women business owners in the events planning business use to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. The targeted population was five women business owners in the events planning business in Cameroon, Central Africa

who have successfully developed the strategies needed to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. In this study, my findings may contribute to the improvement of the local economy, which may lead to positive social change in terms of decreasing poverty in Cameroon and helping reduce unemployment.

Population and Sampling

The target population comprised of women business owners in the events planning business in Cameroon, Central Africa. I identified participants from public lists and event planning company directories in Cameroon. Snowball sampling resulted in five participants. Data sources included semistructured interview questions and company documents provided by participants.

Nature of the Study

For this study, I considered three different research methods: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. I selected the qualitative research method for the proposed study. Using the qualitative method enabled me to explore the complexities of behaviors and processes from the viewpoint of participants regarding a contemporary phenomenon. The qualitative research method is used as an inquiry tool for collecting firsthand accounts from study participants regarding naturally occurring phenomena (Bradshaw et al., 2017). Researchers use the qualitative method to explore phenomena by using interviews to access information (Busetto et al., 2020). By contrast, using the quantitative research method enables a researcher to explain a phenomenon based on numerical data through polls, questionnaires, and surveys, which are analyzed using mathematical methods (Apuke, 2017). The quantitative research method involves

characterizing variable characteristics and relationships through a range of statistical and graphical techniques (Saunders et al., 2016). In quantitative studies, inferential statistics are appropriate to test hypotheses about variable characteristics, relationships, or group differences (Schneider, 2015); therefore, the quantitative research methodology does not apply to this research. Employing mixed methods requires combining both quantitative and qualitative methods to examine and explore a phenomenon (Saunders et al., 2016). According to Schoonenboom and Johnson (2017), researchers apply mixed methods to blend qualitative data collected from participants' natural settings with quantitative hypothesis testing to examine variable characteristics, relationships, or group differences. Since a combination of participant experiences and numerical testing was not needed to explore and examine the phenomenon under study, the mixed methodology was also not suitable for this study.

When using a qualitative research method, a researcher can use narrative, ethnography, phenomenological, and case study designs (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I selected the qualitative case study design for this study. Using a multiple case study design allows the researcher to conduct in-depth inquiries regarding a phenomenon within its real life setting by using multiple sources of data, including interviews, documents, and observations (Saunders et al., 2016; Yin, 2018). I analyzed data from multiple cases to potentially strengthen the validity of the study. The single case study design was rejected for this study. The ethnographic design was rejected as the primary focus of ethnographic studies is to study the culture and social world of people (Saunders et al., 2016). When conducting phenomenological research, a researcher seeks to

understand the personal meanings of peoples' perceptions involving experiencing phenomena to understand the essence of experiences (Bliss, 2016; Marshal & Rossman, 2016). Therefore, the phenomenological design was inappropriate because it did not allow the use of multiple sources of data to explore a targeted population. In narrative research, the researcher collects data concerning participants' personal life story experiences (Ntinda, 2019). Therefore, narrative research was rejected as a design.

Research Question

What strategies do women business owners in the events planning business use to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you used to develop leadership skills to succeed in the events planning business beyond 5 years?
- 2. How did you apply the strategies to develop your leadership skills to succeed in your events planning business?
- 3. How do you use your leadership skills to grow your event planning business?
- 4. How did you address the key challenges of implementing the strategies to improve your leadership skills?
- 5. What leadership skills do you find most effective in your event planning business?
- 6. What additional information would you like to share regarding strategies you use to improve your leadership skills to succeed in the events planning business?

Conceptual Framework

Downton developed the transformational leadership theory which serves as the conceptual framework for this study. Downton finalized the transformational leadership theory after exploring rebel leaders and leadership styles through case studies. Burns (1978) further developed the transformational leadership theory and described it as a relationship in which leaders and followers made each other advance to a higher level of moral and motivation. Bass (1985) defined transformational leadership as the effects a leader has on followers based on vision, trust, respect, and admiration from followers.

According to Northouse (2016), transformational leaders are people with a strong set of internal values and ideals, and they motivate others to act for the greater good rather than self-interest and focus on improving the performance of followers and developing them to their full potential. Transformational leadership has emerged as the most appropriate form for the management of SMEs because transformational leaders have proven to be more courageous, passionate, and visionary (Song et al., 2016). The theory of transformational leadership applied to this research because women are inclined to exhibit transformational leadership styles.

Operational Definitions

Entrepreneurial Leadership: Leadership potential in terms of entrepreneurial spirit (Esmer & Dayi, 2018).

Events Planning: Events planning is the process of using business management and organizational skills to envision, plan, and execute social and business events (Hard, 2018). The planning process involves (a) budgeting, (b) establishing timelines, (c)

selecting and reserving the event sites, (d) selecting speakers and keynotes, and (e) arranging for equipment and facilities.

Leadership Development: Leadership development is an inherently interpersonal and long-term process involving employees' progress (Reddy & Srinivasa, 2015).

Leadership development is about expanding organizational capacity (Aldulaimi, 2018).

Transactional Leadership: Transactional leadership is defined as exchanges between leaders and followers based on rewards for efforts and output of subordinates (Shah et al., 2015). Transactional leadership involves clarifying subordinates' responsibilities, rewarding them for meeting objectives, and addressing when subordinates fall short of achieving goals (Fabio et al., 2016).

Transformational Leadership: Transformational leadership is defined as the process where leaders improve followers' morality and motivation through vision, trust, respect, and admiration (Reza, 2019). Transformational leadership involves transforming followers into moral agents, which is essential for business sustainability.

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are claims that a researcher anticipates to be true (Wargo, 2015). The first assumption was that selected participants were knowledgeable about the phenomenon being investigated. The second assumption was that participants provided honest answers to interview questions and were also willing to share documents from their organizations. The third assumption was that the specific sample size resulted in data saturation.

Limitations

Limitations are the study's potential weaknesses that may influence outcomes and conclusions of research (Ross & Zaidi, 2019). The first limitation was my bias, which could lead to ambiguous results. However, I was mindful of my preconceived beliefs on the study topic and used a self-reflexive process which involved examining one's assumptions and preconceptions and how these could affect the research process. By practicing self-reflection, researchers are able to legitimize and validate research procedures without personal bias (Mortari, 2015).

Delimitations

Delimitations are boundaries set by the researcher (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I selected a case study design. I used the snowball sampling technique. I limited the sample size to five participants.

Significance of the Study

Findings from this study may be useful to women entrepreneurs because I explored strategies that women entrepreneurs use to develop and implement leadership skills that allow them to succeed in business beyond 5 years in Cameroon. Women entrepreneurs play an important role in the growth of developing countries; therefore, expanding women's entrepreneurial capabilities through education, motivation, and business experience could help improve their businesses and increase economic growth. In 2016, 163 million women started businesses across 74 economies worldwide, which shows the impact women entrepreneurs have in terms of providing jobs for their communities, income for their families, and goods and services that bring value (Jackson,

2017). Despite these potential benefits, women entrepreneurs still face challenges in terms of starting and growing their own businesses (Bharthrajan, 2014). New knowledge from this research may increase the number of businesses that succeed beyond 5 years, thereby increasing employment and income of local communities in Cameroon.

Contribution to Business Practice

In this study, I explored strategies that women business owners use to improve leadership skills to allow them to succeed in business beyond 5 years. Entrepreneurs with the right leadership skills influence people by inspiring, developing, and motivating them and ensuring the success of businesses, which is important as business success also ensures sustainability (Olutade et al., 2015). Small business women leaders can use knowledge and information gained from this study to improve their entrepreneurial and leadership styles to become successful.

In sub-Saharan Africa, adult female business bankruptcies are high (Jackson, 2017), which justifies the relevance of studying strategies to improve leadership skills for women to succeed in business beyond 5 years. If women business owners could distinguish among strategies to improve leadership skills in business, then small businesses may perform better. Implementing improved leadership skills in womenowned businesses may also be essential to enhance skills and abilities of entrepreneurs in order to compete successfully (Chatterejee & Das, 2016). Findings and conclusions from the study may also contribute to improved business practice by enhancing women business leaders' knowledge about how improving leadership skills can provide a

framework for sub-Saharan women entrepreneurs to conduct and sustain successful businesses.

Implications for Social Change

Findings from this study could potentially promote positive social change by providing the means of achieving leadership skills that women business leaders could use to meet entrepreneurial goals and business sustainability beyond 5 years. Findings and recommendations from this study may also affect social change since the improved leadership skills of women entrepreneurs could lead to business growth, thereby transforming families and communities through job creation, improved income, and poverty alleviation.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The literature review section includes a critical analysis and review of literature to establish the foundation of the study. Databases used to access information were ProQuest, Google Scholar, Google, and Google Books. The primary search terms I used in the search were *transformational leadership*, *women entrepreneurs*, *entrepreneurial skills*, *leadership strategies*, *small business sustainability*, and *events planning industry*. Table 1 includes results of database searches.

Table 1Details of Literature Review by Year of Publication

	5	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Total	Percentage
	Years							of Total
	or							References
	older							
Books	3	1	2				6	4.2%
Peer	15	21	36	32	19		123	86%
Reviewed								
Articles								
Web	1	2	5	5	1		14	9.8%
Pages								
Total	19	22	43	37	18		143	100%

Searches from various databases yielded 143 possible sources, of which 86% were peer-reviewed, while 86.7% were published between 2016 and 2020. In total, 4.2% were books while 9.8% were from web pages. The literature review begins with an introduction, information on the transformational leadership theory, and application of literature to the research question. I continued by analyzing and synthesizing the

transformational leadership theory, which is the conceptual framework of this study, and further discussing Burns' and Bass' transformational leadership concepts. Also included in this review is a discussion regarding the four components of Bass' transformation leadership. I then address transactional leadership, which is a contrasting theory. Further, I explored a range of issues relating to the application of transformational leadership to business practices and women entrepreneurship, arguments against transformational leadership, and a discussion of entrepreneurial leaders and leadership skills. The literature review concludes with a brief overview of the event planning industry and common concerns relating to women entrepreneurs.

Transformational Leadership Theory

The transformational leadership theory is the conceptual framework for this study. Downton developed the transformational leadership theory. Downton (1973) said individual charisma influenced religious leaders. A leader's power emanates from charismatic behavior and inspiration. Transformational leadership is the reciprocal process of mobilizing economic, political, and other resources with specific values involving achieving goals for both leaders and followers (Mkheimer, 2018).

Burns' Transformational Leadership Theory

Burns (1978) described transformational leadership as the process where leaders could improve followers' morality and motivation through vision, trust, respect, and admiration. According to Jovanovic and Ciric (2016), the concept of transformational leadership involves transforming followers into moral agents, which is essential for

business sustainability. Burns' concept of transformational leadership style is suitable for leaders to facilitate organizational development and change.

Transformational leaders are change agents. Transformational leaders act as change agents to facilitate organizational change, and while doing so, they improve employees' morale and provide a clear vision to drive commitment (Veronica, 2017). Transformational leaders are charismatic in terms of obtaining needed support and commitment to bring change to meet organizational goals (Northouse, 2016). Transformational leaders thrive on bringing change by focusing on employees' values and mapping out clear visions for the future to remain successful.

The transformational leadership approach enables trust between leaders and followers. Jovanovic and Ciric (2016) said transformational leadership enables leaders to tap into the full potential of others and heighten morality through trust. Transactional leaders motivate their followers by offering rewards upon goal completion. By contrast, transformational leaders influence followers by promoting organizational entrepreneurship. Organizational leadership is a contributing factor to sustain business beyond 5 years of operation.

Bass' Transformational Leadership Theory

Bass' transformational leadership concept is the conceptual framework for this study. According to Tengi et al. (2017), transformational leadership enables business leaders to focus on creating significant changes in people and organizations' lives by redesigning perceptions and values and changing expectations and aspirations of

employees. Bass' transformational approach is a holistic approach to leadership, making it suitable to study small business survival in the Sub-Saharan Africa region.

Bass made modifications to the existing transformational leadership theory, including ways to improve the success of transformational leaders. Leaders need to demonstrate authentic and healthy leadership styles to inspire employees (Choi et al., 2016). Bass' approach to leadership could help small business entrepreneurs to develop strategies to influence staff to drive productivity, which is essential for business longevity.

Transformational leaders motivate followers to do more than expected by raising followers' levels of consciousness regarding the importance and value of idealized goals. Transformational leaders enable followers to transcend their self-interests for the organization (Msila & Netshitangani, 2017; Northouse, 2016). Transactional leadership is a process in which the relationship between leader and follower depends on the simple exchange of a certain quantity of work for a fair price (Yildiz et al., 2014). Bass (1985) described transformational leadership as an approach in which leaders focus to accomplish a vision. Small business sustainability goes beyond social exchange and is associated with contingent rewards. Therefore, the transformational approach remained an appropriate leadership lens to explore strategies to sustain small businesses beyond 5 years of operation.

Individualized consideration involves leaders treating followers separately to ensure they receive needed attention to accomplish a task. Bass' transactional leadership module is suitable for an organizational culture that does not require change. Therefore,

the transformational leadership style is suitable for women entrepreneurs because it includes organizational changes involving creativity and innovation.

Four Components of Bass' Transformational Leadership

Bass identified four components of transformational leadership. The four components are charisma, inspiration, individual support, and intellectual stimulation (Bass, 1985). Women entrepreneurs with transformational leadership styles could exhibit each of the four components in different proportions to achieve desired organizational objectives and remain sustainable.

Charisma. Charisma is a Greek word meaning divine gift. According to Mittal (2015), a prolific leader is charismatic and possesses transformational leadership styles. Charismatic leaders generate pride, loyalty, trust, and faith in terms of achieving goals (Al-Malki & Juan, 2018; Nikezic et al., 2012). Northouse (2016) said charismatic leaders are competent and they articulate their ideological goals, presume high expectations from followers, and exhibit confidence in followers' abilities to meet these expectations. According to Sanner-Stiehr and Kueny (2017), charismatic leaders interact in a manner that enables them to enforce organizational goals, develop aspirations for each person in an organization, enlist teams, exhibit a caring culture, and provide followers with developmental opportunities. Acharya et al. (2018) said charismatic behaviors enable leaders to develop innovative ideas in order for followers to dedicate work for enhance productivity, leading to long-term business survival.

Inspiration. Enthusiasm and optimism are critical characteristics of inspirational leaders in order to motivate followers. Leaders need to inspire and motivate their

followers to fulfill ambitious goals and raise confidence among their followers (Megheirkouni & Jallo, 2018). Garton (2017) said inspirational leaders use their unique strengths to motivate individuals and teams to take on bold missions and hold them accountable for results. Garton found that inspirational leaders unlock higher performance potential from followers through empowerment, not command and control. Leaders need to convey messages with precision, power, and a sense of authority.

Individual Support. Individual support means counseling and teaching, individual development, inspirations, and careful listening to followers to achieve leadership's vision. Acharya et al. (2018) said leaders need to provide individualized support to bring new innovative ideas to sustain a business. Through the concept of idealized influence, women entrepreneurs in the events planning business could build trust with their followers and develop confidence in their leaders in order to attain goals.

Intellectual Stimulation. Transformational leaders enhance motivation and drive commitment through the intellectual stimulation of followers. Intellectual stimulation requires both tacit and explicit knowledge to remain effective (Acharya et al., 2018). Choi et al. (2016) said intellectual stimulation is about transformational leaders, challenging assumptions, and soliciting ideas from followers without criticizing. Leaders capable of intellectual stimulation bring out creativeness among followers by challenging the status quo and their own beliefs (Choi et al., 2016; Northouse, 2016). Al-Malki and Juan (2018) said intellectual stimulation enables followers to broaden their outlooks regarding specific matters and see organizational issues from different perspectives. The progress of any contemporary business is unattainable without adapting the

transformational leadership model in business practice (Reza, 2019). Women entrepreneurs could foster creativity and drive innovation to achieve organizational vision through the intellectual stimulation of their followers.

Transactional Leadership as a Contrasting Theory

Leadership style can vary depending on followers' level of motivation. Burns distinguished leadership styles as transformational or transactional, based on followers' motivation. Some transactional and transformational leadership tenets are similar, making the transactional approach suitable for studying small business sustainability.

Leaders can influence followers through honesty, fairness, responsibility, and reciprocal obligation using the transactional approach. Burns (1978) said transactional leadership is an exchange between leaders and followers based on rewards for efforts and output of subordinates. According to Fabio et al. (2016), transactional leadership involves clarifying subordinates' responsibilities, rewarding them for meeting objectives, and addressing when subordinates fall short of achieving goals. Though the transactional leadership approach was suitable, I chose transformational leadership in this study because exploring small business survival requires many facets of leadership that Burn did not cover via the transactional approach.

Transformational Leadership Theory and Business Practices

Transformational leadership is about inspiration and charisma. Su et al. (2019) claimed that transformational leaders encourage followers to fulfill group interests through charisma or idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration in achieving organizational goals. Transformational

leaders provide coaching, give meaningful feedback, and create competency (Northouse, 2016; Schielz, 2018). Al-Malki and Juan (2018) stated transformational leaders are energetic, enthusiastic, and opined. Al-Malki and Juan added that transformational leaders provide clear direction and permit followers to be part of the business organization. Cetin and Kinik (2017) concluded that transformational leadership creates a business climate of shared values. Stiehr and Kueny (2017) maintained that transformational leaders strongly predict job performance, employee engagement, and organizational commitment. Transformational leaders apply business development, and sustainability approaches in a much realistic fashion than leaders practicing other forms of leadership styles (Ghasabeh & Provitera, 2017). Therefore, considering the benefit in business practices, women entrepreneurs could adapt a transformational leadership style to provide clear direction and permit followers to become part of a larger mission to attain organizational goals.

Transformational leadership entails positive approaches and exemplary behaviors to drive results within an organization. According to Al-Malki and Juan (2018), transformational leaders inspire to set followers through self-achievement motivation. Given that a business's success depends on the leadership style (Arshad et al., 2016), transformational leadership emerged as the simplified approach for small and medium-sized enterprises (Song et al., 2017). Women entrepreneurs, through transformational leadership approach, could act as facilitators in the interaction between team members and leaders to improve performances.

Application of Transformational Leadership Theory to Women Entrepreneurship

Female transformational leaders may raise followers' motivation and morale.

Transformational leaders affect peoples' emotions, values, ethics, standards, and long-term goals (Northouse, 2016). After researching transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire leadership styles among women, According to Msila and Netshtangani (2017), female transformational leaders enhance team orientation and collaboration.

Gipson et al. (2017) argued that female transformational leaders are better at developing and motivating others because they can build relationships and collaborate with teams. In their study, Silva and Mendis (2017) found that women transformational leaders successfully communicated organizational values, vision, and mission necessary for business continuity because of their aptitude for focusing on the development and mentoring of followers. Therefore, women entrepreneurs who exhibit transformational leadership styles can develop and mentor followers because of their ability to motivate people.

Women entrepreneurs in Africa may benefit from transformational leadership skills. Female leaders' transformational leadership style is effective in contemporary society because such a method appeared to be democratic and exhibit contingent reward behaviors (Northouse, 2016). Msila and Netshitangani (2017) stated that transformational female leaders positively engage with others to influence people's livelihood. Women in Africa could lead with distinction because they bring transformation, nourishment, and energy to enable followers to commit to the organization (Msila & Netshitangani, 2017). Women display a high rate of transformational leadership because they are less likely to

advocate for themselves, make demands on their behalf, and self-promote for professional success (Gipson et al., 2017). Women's participation in business in Africa has increased significantly towards creating high-performing businesses (Bahiru & Mengistu, 2018). The transformational leadership style is essential for female leaders in Africa because the leadership approach that transforms followers stimulates new ideas, creates a vision, and encourages people to rise to the challenge to mold a prosperous future for a business.

Arguments Against Transformational Leadership Theory

Few scholars criticized the transformational leadership style. Ghasabeh and Provitera (2017) researched building a productive culture to manage organizational knowledge using a transformational leadership framework. The transformational leadership approach granted an excess of power to the leaders who incentivize leaders' narcissism and hubris. Ghasabeh and Provitera (2017) explained that leaders alone could determine both the ends and the means of a collective action to which followers commit, enabling leaders to uphold control and power. Leonard and Gourgues (2019) raised another argument against transformational leadership by suggesting that leaders lack clarity. Leonard and Gourgues argued that because transformational leaders are big picture thinkers, they could easily overlook the details needed to thrive. Understanding both the pros and cons of leadership style enable leaders to decide to what extent they could apply transformation leadership style in business practices.

The transformational leadership theory closely relates to the leader-member exchange theory. The Leader-member exchange theory enables leaders to focus on a two-

way relationship between leaders and followers (Acharya et al., 2018). In the transformational leadership approach, Acharya et al. (2018) identified an in-group and out-group relationship between a leader and followers. According to Acharya et al., ingroup followers receive more prominent obligations, more rewards, and more considerations than an out-group follower, who is out of the leader's cycle and receives lesser consideration and fewer rewards. Leonard (2019) noted that transformational leaders who create a leader-member relationship with followers tend to spend more time with those in the in-group than with those in the out-group, resulting in potential factions and resentment in the team affecting the overall success of the business.

Entrepreneurial Leadership

Entrepreneurial leadership is about combining leadership and entrepreneurship. In research involving entrepreneurial leadership theoretical framework, Esmer and Dayi (2018) explained that entrepreneurial leadership is a concept that blends leadership potential with the entrepreneurial spirit. Entrepreneurial leadership is a leadership style that integrates leadership and entrepreneurship. According to Cai et al. (2019), entrepreneurial leadership involves influencing and directing members to perform at their best to achieve organizational goals, including recognizing and exploiting entrepreneurial opportunities. Entrepreneurship and leadership are two concepts that have similarities between them (Harrison et al., 2017). In recent times, entrepreneurial leadership has become a new phenomenon in business management and is a leadership skill used by entrepreneurial leaders to create new products, new processes and expand opportunities in existing businesses (Esmer and Dayi, 2018). Ranjan (2018) defined entrepreneurial

leadership as an ability to manage available resources strategically for competitive advantage. According to Leitch and Volery (2017), entrepreneurial leadership is essential for entrepreneurial ventures for-profit and not-for-profit companies. Esmer and Dayi (2018) stated that entrepreneurial leadership involves several actions to gear business towards an individual, organizational, and market levels. At a personal level, the theory is a suitable framework to foster an individual's creativity. At an organizational level, the focus of entrepreneurial leadership is about promoting and managing innovation. Therefore, women entrepreneurs need to evaluate the business landscape in an organizational context to combine transformational leadership concepts with an innovative entrepreneurial mindset to exploit resources to remain competitive.

Entrepreneurial leadership is the ability to motivate, direct, and lead.

Entrepreneurial leadership involves an alliance between leadership and entrepreneurship in achieving strategic value creation (Harrison et al., 2017). Entrepreneurial leadership is a distinctive leadership style suitable for new and small businesses rather than large business organizations (Leitch & Volery, 2017). Sousa (2018) researched entrepreneurial skill development for team leaders and found that becoming a successful entrepreneur requires technical skills and the ability to exploit opportunities in the marketplace and maximize existing capabilities and resources for sustainable competitive advantage.

Sousa added that an entrepreneur needs to be a leader who can conduct business efficiently, set the company's strategic direction, and achieve established operating targets, goals, and initiatives. Entrepreneurs could not achieve their goals in isolation but rely on followers. Therefore, Esmer and Dayi (2018) argued that business leaders need

leadership and entrepreneurship skills to align business ventures with followers' potential to attain long-term business success. Embracing entrepreneurial leadership could enable women entrepreneurs to maintain their competitiveness in a dynamic and challenging environment.

Entrepreneurs develop a vision, set goals for the business venture, and motivate employees to achieve them. Entrepreneurs are leaders, and leadership is the core component of the entrepreneurial process (Leitch & Volery, 2017). Leadership and entrepreneurship share common characteristics, including the ability to motivate employees, achieve financial targets, be creative, flexible, patient, persistent, and encourage risk-taking (Harrison et al., 2017). Entrepreneurial leaders need a mindset and skillset to help them identify, develop, and exploit new business opportunities (Fabio et al., 2016). In the context of hyper-competition, Leitch and Volery (2017) argued that successful entrepreneurial leaders are those who possess the ability to adapt to emerging business environments and embrace change. Entrepreneurial leadership could play a significant role in assisting women entrepreneurs in Africa to attain business longevity in start-up ventures and mature enterprises.

Entrepreneurial leaders possess multiples attributes needed for business success. Entrepreneurial leaders are team-oriented, committed to the values that strengthen the organizational culture, motivated, charismatic, and cognitive abilities allow them to evaluate opportunities, discover and create new ventures, and grow their businesses (Ranjan, 2018). Entrepreneurial leaders take risks to achieve goals (Wibowoa & Saptano, 2018). Entrepreneurial leadership is authentic, charismatic, and transformational because

such a leadership approach allows leaders to inspire followers to realize a shared vision (Leitch &Volery, 2019). According to Felix et al. (2018), entrepreneurial leaders make a difference in the success of a business venture because such leaders take calculated risks and recognize opportunities that others overlook. Entrepreneurial leaders have the potential to grow small businesses because they can take risks and exploit business opportunities.

Strategies for Developing Leadership Skills

Entrepreneurial leadership entails having both the entrepreneurial spirit and leadership skills. Entrepreneurial leadership is about stimulating creativity and innovation within a business while maximizing resources to attain business objectives. Influential entrepreneurial leaders are an organization's significant assets (Saiyed, 2019). Influential leaders can develop and operationalize the company's vision and develop the initiatives, targets, goals, and processes to motivate others to achieve desired goals (Khoshhal & Guraya, 2016). Leadership involves the process of influencing others to accomplish shared objectives (Leitch & Volery, 2017). Entrepreneurial leaders are authentic, charismatic, and lead by developing a vision and setting goals for their business ventures. Therefore, investment in leadership development at all levels in business is a necessity.

Arguments exist among researchers whether leadership is an inherent ability or an acquired skill. In an exploratory article on the myth of born leadership, Steinhoff (2015) asserted that some leaders are naturally born; however, very little literature supports this concept. In their study on the role of genetics in leadership, Boermia et al. (2017) found that leadership had a substantial genetic basis. According to Boermia et al., genetics

contributed moderately to the personality traits of leaders. Therefore, genetics was a necessary component of leadership traits. According to Khan et al. (2016), who extensively studied the works of Carlyle on leadership in 1847, leaders were born, not made, and only those endowed with heroic potential could ever become leaders. Ghasabeh and Provitera (2017) claimed that transformational leadership aligns with the concept noted in traits theory, whose authors believe leaders are born, not made. Naturally born leaders demonstrate dramatic initiative to prioritize tasks and effectively influence others to execute the task (Steinhoff, 2015). Though argument exists between inherent abilities or learned leadership capabilities, literature findings revealed undisputed leadership benefits in attaining long-term business sustainability.

Some scholars argued that leadership is an acquired skill. Khoshhal and Guraya (2016) stated that leadership is more of an experience and expertise that leaders learn to develop over time. Jones and York asserted that leaders are not born with leadership skills; instead, leadership skills are learned behaviors and gained through on-the-job experience, coaching, mentoring, and formal skills development. Steinhoff (2015) opined that innate leadership characteristics within an individual could manifest only when developed or cultivated. Despite the argument on whether leadership is a from birth or acquired, successful organizational leadership teams spend their time and resources creating a culture whereby employees learn practical leadership skills through day-to-day interactions and coaching to remain productive, leading to business continuity.

Leadership development is a process. Aldulaimi (2018) emphasized the importance of distinguishing between leader development and leadership development.

According to Aldulaimi, leader development expands upon an individual's capacity, while leadership development is about expanding organizational capacity. Burbaugh and Kaufman (2017) stated that leadership development enhances the ability of individuals, groups, and organizations through tacit and explicit knowledge necessary for business sustainability. Therefore, leadership development is an inherently interpersonal and long-term process focusing on employees' progress.

Training could enhance leadership capabilities. Mourao (2018) contended that leadership development constitutes a broad set of training and development programs and is an essential dimension of transformational leadership. Asrar-al-Haq and Anwar (2018) posited the impact of good leadership development in business includes job satisfaction, employee motivation, organizational commitment, psychological well-being of employees, and low employee turnover. Leadership development through training is about increasing an individual's capacity to integrate within an organization's system and perform to meet organizational goals (Aldulaimi, 2018), which is essential for business continuity. Women business leaders could benefit from training and development, and benefits include job satisfaction, engagement, and career certainty.

The business operating environment is rapidly changing, and leaders need a different and broader set of skills to increase their business acumen and adaptability. The level of leadership capability could increase when organizations support leadership development (Aldulaimi, 2018). One of the leadership team's responsibilities is to initiate and manage the changes necessary to adapt to changing circumstances (Jones & York, 2016). Therefore, leaders need to develop appropriate leadership skills through ongoing

learning (Ghasabeh & Provitera, 2017; Johnson, 2018), followership (Johnson, 2018), mentorship (Irby et al., 2017; Montgomery, 2017), and networking (Burbaugh & Kaufman, 2017). Therefore, entrepreneurs could succeed in a business venture by acquiring the needed leadership development skills.

Leadership Learning

Learning through experience could improve leadership capabilities. Learning to generate new ideas and knowledge requires changing existing behaviors (Ghasabeh & Provitera, 2017). In the viewpoint of Sartori et al. (2018), lifelong learning was essential for personal and professional development. After conducting a study on lifelong learning and professional development, Carlson (2016) asserted that lifelong learning was to fundamentally rethink learning, teaching, and education to change mindsets. Carlson also believed that through lifelong learning, individuals could develop communication skills, self-directed learning skills, the ability to function as an agent of change, and the ability to share good practices and business knowledge. To develop useful leadership capabilities, managers need to acquire ongoing knowledge and competencies through adaptation, improvement, growth, and development (Johnson, 2018). Learning is a continuing process to improve efficiency in business operations to remain productive and sustainable.

Leadership learning can be formal or informal. The leadership skills development approach includes informal learning either by creating multidisciplinary teams that enrich the exchanges within groups or through leaders inspiring subordinates through experimental learning involving observations (Mourao, 2018). After researching the

significance of informal (on the job) learning, Choonara et al. (2017) found that workplace-based learning is an informal learning approach in which an individual could respond to changing circumstances in the workplace through practice. Through informal learning at the workplace, people could acquire knowledge and skills embedded in business practice (Amelia et al., 2015). According to Metwally et al. (2019), contemporary organizational leaders recognize business knowledge as essential for business success. The small business owners in the event planning business should focus on leadership development by shaping the learning culture to develop those leadership skills that will enable the sustainment of their business beyond 5 years.

Followship

The dynamic process of fellowship enables both the leaders and followers to influence each other. Joubert and Feldman (2017) described followership as the capability of a leader to provide content-specific and context-specific information to followers, enabling them to meet organizational purposes. According to Chhotray et al. (2018), leaders need to empower followers by involving them in decision-making. Leaders show followers how their work contributes positively to organizational processes, inform them of organizational changes, and show them the support they need to address workplace challenges. Alwazzan (2017) stated that fellowship sustains the relationship between leadership and followership. Followership could result in an individual finding a coach who dedicates the individual's strengths and corrects their weaknesses (Gipson et al., 2017). The fellowship idea is to enhance follower's skillset

necessary to improve work efficiency and productivity required for business survival and growth.

Followership is an engagement process to improve organizational success.

According to Gatti et al. (2017), followership is a precondition for organizational success.

Followership is complementary to leadership because followers could influence leaders through decision-making, which could improve a leader's competencies (Sotiroska et al., 2019). Blair and Bligh (2018) concluded that the quality of the relationship between followers and leaders is essential in improving team participation. Participation could enable followers to frequently demonstrate leadership skills through their willingness to voice innovative or divergent ideas. Creative ideas could result in developing new products and services or enhance the process for business longevity 5 years and beyond.

Mentorship

Mentorship is an effective method of transferring entrepreneurial knowledge, leadership skills, and attributes. Moore and Wang (2017) described mentorship as a socially based learning process between mentors and mentees. Montgomery (2017) viewed mentorship as one of the significant factors in skills development and career advancement, leading to performance improvement. Mentoring is a training program as mentorship enables professional and personal development (Irby et al., 2017). Kunaka and Moos (2019) emphasized the importance of mentorship in developing leadership skills. Through mentorship, entrepreneurs and small business owners could build leadership skills to help them grow sustainable businesses.

Mentoring can take many forms. McBride et al. (2017) noted that mentoring could be in the way of supporting, training, counseling, coaching, advising, protecting, and sponsoring. Mentorship could increase trust and loyalty, leading to positive interpersonal relationships (Irby et al., 2017). Through mentorship, individuals could cultivate practical communication skills, healthy relationships, critical thinking skills, self-sufficiency, and a deep understanding of professional identity (Irby et al., 2017). Montgomery (2017) believed that mentorship could improve people's self-efficiency, efficacy, and competency. Hund et al. (2018) identified important aspects of active mentorship, including listening, respect, excellent communication, patience, and honesty. Small business owners in the event planning business could provide appropriate mentoring to employees to enhance trust and, in return, obtain their commitment to organizational success beyond 5 years.

Networking

Networking is an action to create and manage a social network system that provides access to resources for everyone's mutual benefit. Cullen-Lester and Woehler (2016) noted that the ideal network system is open and diverse. To provide access to various learning resources, Burbaugh and Kaugman (2017) believed that networking is essential for relationship development. Hartviksen et al. (2018) concluded that learning networks resulted in a leadership capacity through harnessing a shared consciousness of purpose, understanding, trust, and respect for everyone in the network. Brown (2019) asserted that networking could result in an avenue through which people could collaborate to build new leadership skills. Turkina (2017) argued that networking fosters

business growth by generating knowledge spillovers. Therefore, networking could help leaders to acquire new knowledge over time for business growth and sustainability.

In the final analysis, developing leadership skills is a process. Investing in leadership development is essential because leaders influence others to accomplish organizational goals. Leadership abilities have a substantive genetic basis as some believe that leaders are born, not made. Born leaders are skillful at influencing others to execute tasks that could result in long-term business success and sustainability. Leadership skills are attainable through learning, followership, mentorship, coaching, and networking. In particular, small business owners remain critical in developing African economies; therefore, leadership development strategies are essential to sustain small businesses beyond 5 years.

Small Business Entrepreneurship

In the last 5 years, different scholars defined entrepreneurship in different ways. Richard Canilton first established the term entrepreneurship in 1732 to describe an individual who is willing to carry out forms of arbitrage involving the financial risk of a new venture (Almahry et al., 2018). Researchers and policymakers viewed entrepreneurship as one of the main drivers of economic growth and development (Meyer, 2018; Serea & Hamdan, 2018). Omoruyi et al. (2017) explained that entrepreneurship is an individual's ability to create or discover an opportunity and utilize the opportunity for benefits. Efstathios et al. (2018) defined entrepreneurship as the process of combining public and private resources to exploit economic, social, or cultural opportunities in an ever-changing environment to create value for business and social

communities. Other scholars defined entrepreneurship as developing new products or distribution systems for new or existing markets (Meyer, 2018). According to Ranjan (2018), entrepreneurship is an individual starting a new business, which has not been explored and remains sustainable in the long run. Considering the broad definition and applicability of entrepreneurship, women business leaders need to view entrepreneurship in their own business context and decide its applicability to remain sustainable.

Entrepreneurship is about an entrepreneur willing to take a risk. Syed et al. (2019) agreed with other authors that entrepreneurs are risk-takers, and anyone's decision to become an entrepreneur largely depends on their attitude towards risk-taking. Meyer (2018) argued that by taking calculated risks, entrepreneurs step out of their comfort zones, expand their horizons, and as a result, build their businesses. Serea and Hamdan (2018) stated that innovation and risk-taking relate to entrepreneurship. However, small business owners need to be careful while taking a risk, and calculated risk with a designed contingency plan needs to be intact for business continuity.

Innovation may require challenging the status quo, whereas risk-taking requires involvement in activities for positive outcomes. Sanchez-Garcia et al. (2018) posited that entrepreneurship is an activity that includes all kinds of ventures and is increasing worldwide. Successful entrepreneurs take risks, make strategic decisions, and remain focused on those ventures. Ranjan (2018) asserted that successful entrepreneurs bestow distinct characteristics such as intuition, desire for achievement, readiness to handle risks, and ability to survive in turbulent markets. Esmer and Dayi (2018) identified successful entrepreneurial characteristics, including self-confidence, determination, and

communication. Additional characteristics include openness to new ideas, positive thinking, flexibility, and risk-taking (Esmer & Dayi, 2018). Entrepreneurs' characters define their risk appetite and innovative capabilities necessary for business continuity.

Entrepreneurship emerged as an appropriate form for managing skills for small and medium-sized businesses. Efstathios et al. (2018) opined those creative entrepreneurs act on opportunities to grasp competitive advantage and provide the basis for innovation and business growth. Ritter and Mostert (2017) contended that innovative thinking is one of the core competencies that allow entrepreneurs to deal with opportunities and challenges in a complex and fast-changing world. One attribute of transformational leadership is entrepreneurship consisting of a robust set of internal values and ideals to motivate others to act for the greater good rather than self-interest, which could develop followers to their full potential to enhance productivity.

Entrepreneurship is the driving power behind economic growth, employment, and social welfare. Entrepreneurs contribute to poverty alleviation in sub-Saharan Africa (Omoruyi et al., 2017). Radzi et al. (2017) perceived small businesses as engines for a country's economy and opined that developing small business capacity is an excellent strategy to broaden GDP growth. Mesut (2017) postulated that entrepreneurship is an underlying force of economic development in the 20th century and remained an essential economic growth component. Doran et al. (2018) reasoned those entrepreneurs affect economic growth through innovation relating to goods, services, and processes. African women entrepreneurs could contribute to national economic growth by inspiring, developing, and motivating followers to remain productive and profitable.

In sub-Saharan Africa, small businesses are an essential component of the national economy. Small businesses account for more than 90% of all firms, and small businesses are a primary source of jobs and income (St-Pierre et al., 2015). In Cameroon, small business consists of 6 to 20 people and revenue up to \$165,000 (Molonge, 2016). Small and medium enterprises (SMEs) constitute a bulk of Cameroon enterprises. SMEs are the main engine of economic growth, representing about 36% of the country's GDP (Mbonteh, 2017). SMEs employ about 61% of the working population (Tsambou & Kamga, 2017). According to the Ministry of Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises, Social Economy, and Handicraft (2018), SMEs in Cameroon accounted for about 95% of the country's economy, and about 30% of the government taxes come from SMEs. In the final analysis, successful small business entrepreneurs challenge the status quo, make strategic decisions, have an intrinsic desire for achievement, and are capable of handling risk, thereby acting as a catalyst for national economic growth. Therefore, developing small business capacity is an excellent strategy to broaden a country's Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth.

Women Entrepreneurship

Women entrepreneurs play a significant role around the world. Li et al. (2019) stated that women entrepreneurship varies around the world. According to Yadav and Unni (2016), women entrepreneurship started rising in the early1970s. Sucheta and Usha (2017) stated woman entrepreneurs have sought opportunities, possessed a strong vision and commercial understanding, and had an appetite to take risks. Bouzekraoui and Ferhane (2017) found that women entrepreneurs in Morocco established businesses from

the ground up. Women assumed risk, managed financials, carried out social responsibility, and participated in the enterprise's management (Bouzekraoui & Ferhane, 2017). Some female entrepreneurs own more than 50% of a business in India and employed more than 50% of female employees (Meyer, 2018). Considering the role of women entrepreneurs in the economy, enhancing their leadership capabilities will further grow small businesses.

Women become entrepreneurs because of their desire to be independent, flexible, and economically self-reliant. In 2016, 163 million women started businesses across the globe (Jackson, 2017). Kwame (2015) argued that women are involved in entrepreneurship in developing countries out of necessity and not as a norm because of the weak economy. Sadera et al. (2019) stated that women become entrepreneurs because business ownership provides them autonomy and freedom to make decisions. According to Garg and Agarwal (2017), entrepreneurship enables women to become self-sufficient, self-dependent, and create their own social identity. Chinomona and Maziriri (2015) asserted that female entrepreneurship is increasing because women started to take control of their personal and professional lives and exerted willingness to eradicate poverty and reduce unemployment. Interest in female entrepreneurship around the globe necessitates further exploration of strategies necessary for female entrepreneurs to remain sustainable in their business ventures.

In Africa, female entrepreneurship significantly played a decisive role in poverty alleviation and socio-economic development. Boateng (2018) opined those women entrepreneurs are catalysts of economic growth, and entrepreneurs contributed to positive

economic trends. According to the World Bank, women's empowerment through entrepreneurship is fundamental in achieving continued sustainable economic development (Meyer, 2018). Panda (2018) posited that entrepreneurship enables self-expression and fulfillment for women. For this reason, women entrepreneurs, especially in developing countries, created a positive impact on the overall household welfare and consumption.

In sub-Saharan Africa, the entrepreneurial landscape is a plethora of businesses started by women. Twenty-six percent of adult females engage in early entrepreneurial activity (Jackson, 2017). However, in a study conducted on the antecedents of women leadership in SMEs, Husain and Xiao (2016) found that only 7% of female leaders held leadership positions for 3 to 5 years, and only 13% of females were in leadership positions for more than ten years. According to Meyer and Mostert (2016), although African women's full potential as business owners remained unleashed, female-owned businesses were increasingly growing in the continent. Developing women's leadership skills could unleash the full potential of women entrepreneurs, which could impact the growth of women-owned businesses in the continent.

Barriers Encountered by Women Entrepreneurs

Women entrepreneurs often face constraints in their business ventures. Several researchers affirmed that barriers to women entrepreneurship include access to capital, networking, training, and work-family life balance (Bouzekraoui & Ferhane, 2017).

According to Garg and Agarwal (2017), women entrepreneurs suffer financial constraints in obtaining credit from banks. Garg and Agarwal added that women entrepreneurs find

difficulties in capital expansion, finding appropriate financial resources, and collateral bank loans. Lack of collateral limits accesses to formal capital (Li. et al., 2019). Goswami (2019) noted besides access to capital, women entrepreneurs find challenges in starting and running their own business because of a lack of managerial skills, inadequate education, and family ties. Women entrepreneurs who lack such skills may too often find it challenging to provide the leadership required to develop and sustain a business beyond 5 years.

Lack of Managerial Skills. Entrepreneurship is an appropriate skill for the management of small and medium-sized businesses. Ruth (2018) contended that not every female entrepreneur has a healthy support system for starting a business. Panda (2018) found that women lacked formal business and entrepreneurial training, understanding of business practices, managerial capital, marketing skills, and hiring and retaining talent. Sadera et al. (2019) stated in a study finding that though women entrepreneurs were good in oral communication, they lacked the necessary managerial skills to promote and establish their businesses. In Sub-Saharan Africa, considering small businesses are the main engine of economic growth, empowering women to own businesses with managerial skills could further strengthen the economy through job creation.

Inadequate Education. Education is a significant contributor to business success. Women entrepreneurs lack the necessary knowledge to develop their own business because of technological challenges and localization (Amador-Ruiz & Briones-Penalver, 2017). According to Chinomona and Maziriri (2015), many women in developing

countries are illiterate, live in poor communities, and are ill-equipped financially. Women are also not familiar with the business landscape and do not know where to access resources (Iwu & Nxopo, 2015). Women could learn the necessary entrepreneurial skills and knowledge to acquire resources to run a sustainable business.

Family Ties. Many entrepreneurial women in developing countries need to balance family responsibilities with business activities. Rai (2018) researched the issues and challenges of women entrepreneurs in India. Rai claimed that women did not invest adequate time in business to fulfill their family responsibilities, which hindered their business growth. Iwa and Nxopo (2015) added that these women often worked part-time to meet family responsibilities. Meyer (2018) stated that in many cultures, women who own businesses are responsible for home tasks and parenting, restricting them from devoting needed time for business, thereby hindering business sustainability and growth. Kwame, Asare-Yeboa et al. (2018) found that most of the female entrepreneurs involved in the study noted that their family responsibilities affected their ability to spend the needed time for the business. Learning skills such as work-life balance could help women entrepreneurs in charge of the family household responsibilities.

Advantages of Women Entrepreneurship

Women entrepreneurs contribute significantly to the global economy. According to Ferri et al. (2018), women entrepreneurs play an essential role in developing countries; therefore, developing their leadership capabilities could improve work productivity and profitability. Women's participation in entrepreneurship is a compulsory subject as women play an essential role in strengthening prosperity and improving general welfare

(Li et al., 2018; Toros & Altinay, 2018). Hechavarria et al. (2018) concluded that women's entrepreneurship is the driver of economic growth through job creation and innovation. In the international arena, women entrepreneurs significantly impact poverty reduction and overall economic development (Li et al., 2019). Women entrepreneurs' success in business is imperative for overall societal well-being.

Women are change agents within the social and economic environments as they contribute significantly to economic development. Over 163 million women worldwide are involved in new entrepreneurial ventures, and women entrepreneurs act as symbolic role models or mentors, setting examples and inspiring aspiring young females to become entrepreneurs (Byrne et al., 2018). The productivity of women entrepreneurs could result in poverty alleviation through employment opportunities, business continuity, and growth.

To be successful, women entrepreneurs need some distinctive character attributes. These character attributes include self-motivation, a moderate risk propensity, self-control, pro-activity, high tolerance for stress, and self-efficiency (Toros & Altinay, 2018). Batool and Ullah (2017) stated that women should be involved in entrepreneurship for the prosperity of a nation. Chinomona and Kwame (2015) noted that women own and manage approximately 50% of businesses in sub-Saharan Africa. According to the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (2017) report, an estimated 163 million women started new businesses in 2016, out of which 27% of the women were from sub-Saharan Africa. The role of the female entrepreneur is evident in research and development, job creation, productivity, and new business ventures. Considering women entrepreneurs contribute

towards economic growth and employment in developed, emerging, and developing economies, their business sustainability in the event planning business became the primary focus of this study.

Women's Entrepreneurial Failures

The business failure topic has been contemporary entrepreneurial research among scholars. According to Yang and Triana (2017), women-led businesses have high failure rates. Atsan (2016) stated entrepreneurial failure occurs when an entrepreneur underperforms and fails to achieve desired targets. Ene et al. (2019) warned that the intense desire to succeed may generate anxiety, causing an entrepreneur to deviate from taking risks needed for business sustainability. Almahry et al. (2018) noted women entrepreneurs fail because of a lack of technical skills, business management skills, and personal entrepreneurial skills. After researching women entrepreneurship, Yadav and Unni (2016) concluded that though women belong to half of the human resources in developing countries, women in these countries lack access to resources to start entrepreneurial ventures. As a result of these disadvantages, women-led businesses could have high failure rates. However, women entrepreneurs could learn from their failures and use past experiences to improve their preparedness for the next business opportunities.

Past business mistakes enable leaders to move towards progress. False and irrational beliefs result in misconceptions that entrepreneurship is valuable only when successful (Ene et al., 2019). Entrepreneurs could benefit from their past failures, and therefore, in entrepreneurship, failure could result in spotting and exploiting new

opportunities (Atsan, 2016). Lattacher and Wdowiak (2018) argued that entrepreneurial failure is a valuable learning experience, which could manifest in improved business practices, self-development, and a change of attitude towards risk. Therefore, entrepreneurship is embracing failure and learning from mistakes to improve their preparedness for subsequent activities.

In the final analysis, women become entrepreneurs for different reasons, including a desire to become economically independent, and business ownership provides them autonomy and freedom to make decisions. Women entrepreneurship plays a significant role in socio-economic development and poverty alleviation. Therefore, developing their leadership skills could unleash the full potential of women entrepreneurs, leading to more women-owned businesses, creating jobs, and driving economic growth.

Events Planning Industry

The International Institute of Events Management (IIEM) in 2018 defined events planning as the process of managing a project such as a meeting, convention, tradeshow, ceremonies, parties, or conventions. The planning process involves (a) budgeting, (b) establishing timelines, (c) selecting and reserving the event sites, (d) acquiring permits, and planning food. Additional activities in the planning process are (a) coordinating transportation, (b) developing themes, (c) arranging for activities, (d) selecting speakers and keynotes, and (e) arranging for equipment and facilities. Hard (2018) defined event planning as the process of using business management and organizational skills to envision, plan, and execute social and business events. Some event planners select speakers and keynotes, manage risk, and develop contingency plans.

Considering the nature of the event planning business, leaders need a specific skill set to remain successful. Events planning expert Hard (2018) stated that the fundamental skills necessary for good event planners are verbal and written communication skills, organizational time management, project management, and multitasking. Hard added that self-starter, team player, staff management, and interpersonal skills are equally important in event planning. Tow (2019) opined that event planners are notorious for multitasking because of their many talents, including creativity, adaptability, negotiation skills, and attention to detail. According to Hard, the event planner's primary responsibilities involve ensuring proper setup, managing venue-related tasks and budgets. Women entrepreneurs need to understand the complexity of their events planning business and then acquire the necessary leadership skill sets to solve problems to remain sustainable.

The event planning business has positive ramifications for local economies. Kim and Dombrosky (2016) emphasized the importance of event planning when they postulated that the creation and management of events attract visitors who spend money, thereby boosting economic growth. According to Heesterman (2016), event planning is a revenue source and employment in local economies. Event planners use local transportation systems, conference halls, and local artisans to sell goods during events. Events planners are positive social change agents because they revive the local people's cultural and social life, build community pride, provide a sense of identity, increase community participation, and enhance the image of the destination (Essays, 2018). The role of women event planners is essential in local economies as women are equally

creative and innovative compared to their male counterparts in carryout event planning activities.

In the final analysis, the events planning process involves budgeting, setting timelines, transportation, developing themes, arranging transport, organizing logistics, and arranging for equipment and facilities. Event planners possess different skills, which include organization, multitasking, creativity, and adaptability. The positive impact of the events planning a business to local economies includes; job creation, serving as positive social change agents because they promote the culture and social life of the people and enhance the image of the destination.

Transition

The objective of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that women business owners in the events planning business use to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. This section stated the problem statement, discussed study methodology, design, study assumptions, limitations, and delimitations. Section 1 ends with an extensive review of the literature relating to the conceptual framework and study phenomenon. In Section 2, I focused on my approach to the study. In section 2, I detailed my role as the researcher, stated participants selection criteria, the research method and design, the population and sampling, and ethical research.

Furthermore, in section 3, I also explained the data collection, organization, and analysis process. Section 3 concluded with a discussion on reliability and validity procedures for the study. In Section 3, I presented the research findings and the themes women business owners identified as their strategies to improve leadership skills to

succeed in business beyond 5 years. This study included a discussion of the findings, implications for social change, recommendations for action, suggestions for further study, and my reflections on the research process.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 includes the purpose statement, role of the researcher, research participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, and techniques for data analysis and organization. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that women owners in the events planning business use to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. Section 2 includes a justification for selecting the population and sampling methods and a discussion of the ethical research protocol. Section 2 includes a discussion on how I mitigated bias and established the study's reliability and validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that women business owners in the events planning business use to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. The targeted population was five women owners in the events planning business in Cameroon, Central Africa who have successfully developed strategies needed to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. In this study, my findings may contribute to the improvement of local economies, which may lead to positive social change in terms of decreasing poverty in Cameroon and helping reduce unemployment.

Role of the Researcher

A researcher's role is important for credible study findings. According to Yin (2019), qualitative researchers are responsible for formulating a research question to address a phenomenon, identify participants, collect credible data, reach data saturation

for reliable results, analyze data, and present the study findings. As an independent qualitative researcher, I collected data from multiple sources for the purposes of methodological triangulation in this study. The primary data source was semistructured interview questions, and the secondary data source was company documents provided by participants. By collecting and analyzing data, themes and common meanings occurred that enabled me to answer the research question. It was also my responsibility to protect the rights of participants. Therefore, in this qualitative study, I was the primary data collection instrument.

Considering my decade-long experience in small business, I explored strategies applicable in a current business context to sustain small businesses beyond 5 years. To extract rich and credible data, I identified participants who met research criteria. I did not have any previous relationships with participants or vested interests in their businesses.

A good case study researcher should strive for the highest ethical standards when doing research, and this includes avoiding plagiarism and falsification of information, being honest, avoiding deception, accepting responsibility for one's work, and gaining participants' consent to be part of research (Yin, 2019). To maintain ethical standards, I complied with the protocols of the Belmont Report. The Belmont Report contains three principles to help researchers conduct ethical research: respect, beneficence, and justice. According to Bromley et al. (2015), respect for an individual is about allowing participants to exhibit their own choices and opinions, beneficence means ethically treating participants, and justice is about providing value to participants for their

cooperation. Per the Walden Internal Review Board (IRB), I abided by the principles of Belmont Report to maintain the highest level of ethical standard.

I was mindful of personal bias during data collection and analysis. Researchers can reduce personal bias through bracketing techniques (Sorsa et al., 2015). Sutton and Austin (2015) said the bracketing technique enables researchers to be aware of preconceived assumptions about the research topic to avoid predispositions during the research process. Therefore, I applied the bracketing technique to minimize personal bias during the research. Mitigating bias could convince readers that findings are credible.

Qualitative researchers can strengthen the reliability of interviews by using an interview protocol. An interview protocol consists of standard procedures while collecting data. Marshall and Rossman (2016) said following the same interview protocol with all participants enable researchers to collect rich data to understand the study phenomenon. I used the same interview protocol with all participants to maintain consistency, avoid personal bias, and collect responses (see Appendix B).

Participants

Study credibility depends on participants' knowledge and experiences relating to the study phenomenon (Cornin, 2014). As an independent qualitative researcher, I set participant selection criteria to meet the research objective. All participants had a minimum of 5 years of experience in the events planning business, sustained their business beyond 5 years, and were female business entrepreneurs in Cameroon.

The challenge to many researchers is finding eligible participants and gaining access. My role as a researcher was to identify participants who met the study criteria and

then reach them. LinkedIn is a social media platform that allows people to list their professional and educational backgrounds, and LinkedIn Prime members are eligible to contact LinkedIn users. Therefore, I signed up for LinkedIn Prime and used its platform as one of the tools to identify and reach participants.

One study limitation was that some participants had reservations about answering interview questions. Maddox (2018) said building working relationships with participants is imperative in terms of obtaining full cooperation from them during interviews. I met with participants during preinterviews to establish trust, explain the consent form, answer their questions, and build rapport.

The researcher's role is to establish a working relationship involving trust, credibility, and friendliness with participants so they are more open and relaxed about data they are willing to provide (Saunders et al., 2016). To establish trust with each participant, I used their offices or any location of their choice. I also gained participants' trust and confidence by disclosing to them the primary purpose of the research. I gained access to participants through personal contacts, LinkedIn, and visiting the departments of small and medium-size industries to obtain a list of female events planners in Cameroon.

After conducting interviews, I transcribed recordings of each participant into a Word document and emailed transcribed interviews to each of them. After I received feedback, I applied changes as requested by participants. Then, I analyzed transcribed interviews, presented data to participants for interpretation, and provided them with a summary of findings.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

The research methodology enables researchers to explore a phenomenon in an empirical, objective, and analytical manner (Patel & Patel, 2019). For this study, I considered three different research methods: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. I used the qualitative research method to explore strategies that women owners in events planning business use to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. A qualitative approach is suitable to understand a phenomenon through participants' perspectives (Barnham, 2015). To extract rich data from participants, the qualitative approach involves asking *how* and *why* questions (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Researchers use the qualitative method to explore phenomena by using interviews to access information (Busetto et al., 2020). This method was best for answering the research question because the qualitative method enables a fuller understanding of people's expressed experiences and actions.

By contrast, the quantitative method is suitable for testing hypotheses (Park & Park, 2016). The quantitative approach involves analyzing numerical data to establish relationships between variables to test hypotheses (Yin, 2017). It allows researchers to use inferential statistics to test hypotheses involving variables characteristics, relationships, and groups differences (Schneider, 2015). The quantitative method did not apply to this research because I did not formulate any hypotheses or construct statistical models. Furthermore, quantitative research involves larger samples; it is not in depth and

does not consider or emphasize personal experiences of participants and how those experiences may impact the study phenomenon (Shidur, 2017).

Mixed methods combines both qualitative and quantitative aspects of research (Arris et al., 2015). Problems may arise when interpreting conflicting results, which may take more time and resources (Molina-Azorin, 2016). The mixed research method was not suitable for this study because I did not formulate any hypotheses. The qualitative approach was suitable compared to mixed methods

Research Design

A qualitative researcher may choose narrative, ethnography, phenomenological, or case study designs (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The selected research design depends on characteristics and nature of the inquiry (Yin, 2017). A case study design is suitable when a researcher cannot manipulate the behavior of those involved in the study and participants' experiences are relevant to the study, or when there is no clear boundary between the study phenomenon and context (Ebneyamini & Moghadam, 2018; Harrison et al., 2017). Using the case study design supports in-depth inquiries into a phenomenon within its real-life setting and allows researchers to ask participants what, when, and why questions (Saunders et al., 2016; Yin, 2018). In a case study, researchers investigate a phenomenon in a specific setting (Dasgupta, 2015). Using a case study design may enable researchers to focus on phenomena under study and make further improvements to understand the study inquiry (Reddy, 2015). Therefore, I selected a multiple case study design rather than other research designs. The multiple case study design was most appropriate for exploring strategies that women owners in events planning businesses use

to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. A case study design is ideal when a holistic in-depth investigation is needed to capture the phenomenon's complexity (Ebneyamini & Moghadam, 2018). I rejected the single case study design, phenomenological design, ethnographic design, and narrative design.

Researchers use a single case study design for theory building, especially if the case is particularly revelatory or when it offers an opportunity for unusual research access (Mariotto et al., 2014). The single case study design is not suitable for this study. The phenomenological research design involves researchers seeking to understand the lived experiences of individuals about a phenomenon as described by those individuals (Bliss, 2016; Hickman, 2015; Neubauer et al., 2019). The phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study because I did not seek to explore the personal meanings of peoples' perceptions involving experiencing phenomena to understand the essence of experiences.

In narrative design research, researchers collect data using a storytelling format (Benson, 2014). By using the narrative research design, researchers collect data involving participants' life stories, including biographies, autobiographies, or life histories (Zurlo & Cautela, 2014). The narrative design was not appropriate for this study because the purpose of this study was not to tell stories.

Researchers use the ethnographic research design to study people's cultures and social worlds (Cincotta, 2015; Saunders et al., 2016; Yin, 2014). Ethnographers gather data via observations, interviews, and documentaries to produce detailed and comprehensive accounts of social phenomena (Morgan-Trimmer & Wood, 2016). The

ethnographic research design is not applicable for this study because the purpose of this study was not to focus on participants' cultural or social ways of life.

In this study, I did not collect data using a storytelling format in a cultural setting or try to understand a phenomenon via participants' lived experiences. I understood the phenomenon via participants' interpretations using semistructured interview questions, and therefore a case study design was appropriate for this study.

Data saturation is the point at which any additional data results in little or no new information or suggested themes (Saunders et al., 2016). Semistructured interview questions and probing followup questions enable researchers to extract rich data to ensure data saturation (Rooddehghan et al.,2015). I reached data saturation by asking articulated semistructured questions in interview settings, asking followup questions, and allocating up to 90 minutes for each interview. Shaw (2020) suggested allocating 45 to 90 minutes for a qualitative case study interview so that researchers do not feel time constraints and may continue to ask followup questions until the data saturation point. I used snowball sampling to select participants who provided information-rich data needed for this study.

Population and Sampling

The snowball sampling technique is a suitable technique for a qualitative study (Stringer, 2014). In this study, the population consisted of 5 women who have a minimum of 5 years of experience in the events planning business, have successfully sustained their events planning business beyond 5 years, and are female business entrepreneurs who started their events planning business. Women in the events planning business but who were not in leadership positions and had not successfully run their

businesses beyond 5 years were not appropriate participants for this study. Fusch and Ness (2015) noted that a researcher could identify knowledgeable participants capable of providing rich data (Fusch & Ness, 2015).

Sampling

A researcher may choose the study sample from a larger population. Fusch and Ness (2015) stated that a larger sample size does not improve data saturation in a qualitative case study. Data saturation occurs when no new theme emerges in participants' responses (Hancock et al., 2016). Khan (2014) cautioned researchers to select the right sample size to minimize cost and time. Mason (2015) suggested a 5 to 20 person sample size for case study design to reach data saturation.

While conducting qualitative research, a well-prepared researcher must build a quick rapport with the participants, listen attentively and respectfully to information shared by the participants, and acknowledge the sensitive nature of the conversation during the interview (Dejonckheere & Vuaghn, 2018). Before the interview, I familiarized myself with the interview guide to avoid regular reference to the guide, which could have been a distraction and could affect the flow of the discussions.

According to Jamshed (2014), semistructured interviews usually last about 30 minutes to no more than an hour. Though the interview duration depended on the questions and the participants' responses, I ensured that the interviews did not last more than an hour.

Data Saturation and Sampling

According to Yin (2017), a qualitative researcher could obtain data saturation through carefully articulated interview questions, follow-up questions, and

methodological triangulation. In this study, I reached data saturation with a sample size of 5 participants by asking semistructured interview questions, probing questions, observations, and reviewing company documents. Researchers use data saturation to verify and ensure that the additional collected data adds no new information or suggests no new themes (Saunders et al., 2016; Vasileiou et al., 2018). I used the snowball sampling technique to identify research participants to attain the requisite number of participants. Snowball sampling is a technique in which a researcher may know one or two participants but then relies on those participants to assist in locating other study participants who fulfill the qualifications defined for the targeted population (McCombes, 2019). I achieved data saturation by selecting and interviewing participants until no new relevant themes about the phenomena under investigation emerged.

Ethical Research

Informed consent is about participants acknowledging the research terms and conditions and knowing their rights as research participants. According to Robert et al. (2014), and informed consent form ensures that participants are aware of research guidelines, commit to abide by the guidelines, and know their right to withdraw from the study. I sent the consent form to participants attached to the invitation email to decide whether to participate or not. During the pre-interview, I went over the consent form, answered any participants' questions, and obtained a wet signature to ensure their consent to participate.

Obtaining informed consent is about voluntary participation without pressure or intimidation (Raj et al., 2018). The consent form (see appendix A) included a provision

that stated the participants could withdraw from the study at any time. Moreover, the consent form also stated there would be no compensation for participation; however, participants will get a 2-3 pages summary of the study findings. The Walden IRB approval number for this study is 07-13-21-0472471.

To ensure the ethical protection of the participants, I followed the three principles noted in the Belmont Report: respect for individuals, beneficence, and justice. Informed consent is an essential component of ethical research. The consent form includes confidentiality provision, which is a certificate to assure ethical protection of participants (Beskow et al., 2014). According to Wolf et al. (2015), confidentiality assurance enhances trust, resulting in cooperation from the participants. To maintain confidentiality, I did not use participants' real names or their real places of work. Using pseudonyms protects participants' identities and builds trust (Onwuegbuzie & Weinbaum, 2017). I used codes like P1 to P5 as designators for each participant. I will store data securely for 5 years to protect participants' confidentiality. After 5 years of study completion, I will delete the electronic data and shred the paper data as Blumenthal et al. (2015) recommended. A researcher should allow participants to withdraw from the study at any point, even after initially consenting to participate (Sim & Waterfield, 2019). In this study, participants could withdraw by calling or email, but none withdrew from this study.

Data Collection Instruments

In a qualitative study, a researcher is the primary data collection instrument (Yin, 2017). Barret and Twycross (2018) posited that an interview is preferred to collect data in

a qualitative study. The primary data collection instrument is semistructured interview questions (McIntosh & Morch, 2015). In this study, I used semistructured, open-ended interview questions to capture participants' responses. The reliability of the data collection instrument relied on the interview protocol. According to Sooniste et al. (2015), the interview protocol enables a researcher to maintain consistency and ensure data validity.

During the interview protocol, I discussed the consent form (see appendix A) and interview procedures. The interview protocol (see appendix B) was the same for all participants. A researcher is responsible for ensuring the reliability and validity of data collection instruments. The reliability of data collection instruments means that the study will result in similar results if repeated in the future (Yin, 2017). The well-designed interview protocol and expert review of interview questions ensured the reliability of data collection instruments (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I conducted member checking to confirm the validity of data collection instruments. The data collection instrument validity means the study is credible (Li, 2016). The member checking is about participants reviewing their interview responses to ensure their accuracy and add new information, if any (Thirusha & Neil, 2018).

Data Collection Technique

In this study, the data collection techniques I used involved methodological triangulation. Methodological triangulation is about collecting data from multiple sources so that a researcher has rich data to understand the study phenomenon (Varaki et al., 2015). The data collection techniques included collecting primary data from

semistructured interviews and secondary data from company documents provided by the participants. I abided by the interview protocol (see appendix B) and asked follow-up questions to extract rich data during the interview. While doing so, I took notes, and at the end of each interview, I collected secondary data that I requested during the preinterview. The secondary data included charts, figures, tables, and other documents that participants found relevant to the study topic.

The advantage of semistructured interviews is that the researcher is in control and can ask articulated questions deemed relevant to the study phenomenon (Dejonckeere & Vaughn, 2018). The disadvantage of semistructured interviews is that participants may find probing questions embarrassing and awkward, resulting in biased responses (Oltmann, 2016). The advantage of company documents is that a researcher will get insights into the company's strategic approach to policies and issues relating to the study phenomenon (Bretschneider et al., 2017). The disadvantage of using company documents is that the researcher has no control over the usefulness of the information found in the documents provided, leading to bias (Hancock et al., 2016).

The consent form included a provision for member checking after data analysis. Member checking is the participant reviewing a researcher's interpretation of the participant's responses (Thomas, 2016). Member checking process strengthens study credibility (Birt et al., 2016). After data analysis, I met with each participant to review my interpretation of their responses, and I also requested the participants add information they deemed relevant to the study phenomenon.

Data Organization Technique

Research constitutes the magnitude of data, and having access to data with ease requires proper data organization. During the literature review, I organized data in an Excel file, separating the peer-reviewed documents by publication date and document type. The qualitative data includes observations, handwritten notes, and interview responses in audio and video recordings (Yin, 2018). The qualitative data in this study came from company documents and interviews. I scanned the company documents provided by the participants and stored them in designated files on my computer. I kept interview data in my computer audio file and later transferred the transcript to the Nvivo platform for thematic analysis. A researcher uses the Nvivo software to assist the researcher in coding and developing themes (Onwuegbuzie & Weinbaum, 2017).

According to Wolf et al. (2015), a researcher needs to maintain data confidentiality to protect participants' privacy. Walden IRB requirement is that a researcher stores the raw data securely for 5 years. I have secured electronic data in the password-protected hard drive and paper data in a locked file cabinet. After 5 years of study completion, I will delete the electronic data and shred the paper data.

Data Analysis

After collecting data, a researcher commences the data analysis process. The data analysis process requires consistency, attention to detail, and accuracy (Watkins, 2017). A data analysis technique requires a researcher to analyze the study phenomenon from the collected data to answer the central research question (Belotto, 2018). Therefore, a researcher needs to identify appropriate data analysis techniques. Yin's (2017) five-step

data analysis process involves (a) compiling data, (b) disassembling data, (c) reassembling data, (d) interpreting data, and (e) concluding. I engaged Yin's sequential process of analyzing data by analyzing all primary data collected during the semistructured interviews, company documents, observations, and from the company websites.

I imported the audio interview transcripts and scanned secondary data to the Nvivo platform during a data compiling process. Then, I coded the data. Coding is essential in the qualitative data analysis process to identify themes (Linnerberg & Korsgaard, 2019). Yin (2015) recommended disassembling the compiled data into smaller words and phrases, narrowing it down to specific topics to avoid redundancy. During the reassembling process, I grouped information in similar categories in Nvivo. A researcher puts together codes to develop main themes (Yin, 2018).

The interpretation process is manual to identify subthemes that a researcher could list under the main theme. Manual data interpretation gives a researcher an understanding of context, situations, events, and actions related to the phenomenon of interest before analyzing the data for concepts and themes (Ravindran, 2019). Methodological triangulation enhances study credibility (Mishra & Rasundram, 2017). Furthermore, I conducted a thematic analysis of study findings and compared them with recently published articles to identify similarities and variations in identified themes. The thematic analysis involves cross-examining study findings within the literature under the umbrella of the conceptual framework (Teruel et al., 2016). I reviewed recently published articles in which the authors have used similar conceptual frameworks as this study and

compared how their findings correlated to the study findings to ensure the study results were current and relevant. The last step of Yin's data analysis process involves presenting the study findings. After cross-examining the study findings with the information found in the current literature, I wrote the study findings as significant themes, which reflected strategies to sustain small events planning business beyond 5 years of operation.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Reliability of data interpretation ensures study dependability. The reliability of data interpretation depends on the subjective judgment of the researcher, decision consistency, and the quality of the data (Harvey, 2015). To ensure subjective judgment without bias during interpretation, I used bracketing techniques. I analyzed data using the same conceptual framework, which is transformational leadership theory. To ensure data quality, I verified the accuracy of interview transcripts, verified secondary data, coding process, and handwritten notes from the interview as recommended by Nandi and Platt (2017). Reliability of data interpretation will result in the same results if the study repeats under similar conditions (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015).

Validity

The validity of study findings depends on the sources used to collect data and the accuracy of the data interpretation process (Bengtsson, 2016). The three criteria to measure study validity are credibility, conformability, and transferability (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Ensuring study validity means that the researcher is taking approaches

to confirm that the findings are credible, extends data objectivity and neutrality, and the results are transferable to a broader population (Middleton, 2020).

Credibility

To ensure credibility, I conducted member checking after data interpretation. The member checking is about participants reviewing their interview responses to ensure accuracy and adding new information, if any (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Collecting data from multiple sources ensures study credibility (Mandal, 2018). I also gathered data from interviews and company documents provided by the participants.

Confirmability

Confirmability refers to an interpretation of participants' responses, not the researcher's viewpoint (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). To ensure confirmability, I (a) maintained a reflexive journal in regards to activities and my interests, (b) was mindful of personal bias during the interpretation, and (c) audited interpretations to confirm the finding represents' participants' responses. Confirmability is reflective of the trustworthiness of study findings (Mandal, 2018).

Transferability

Transferability refers to generalizing the study findings to the settings outside of the study population (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). To ensure transferability, I explained the rationale for the study methodology and design, the characteristics of the study population, and the type of data collected. According to Mandal (2018), transferability acts as a check for external validity because a researcher provides a detailed description

of the study so that readers can make an informed decision regarding the applicability of findings to their context.

Data Saturation

Data saturation is essential for study validity (Yin, 2017). Data saturation means that the researcher has collected enough information for data analysis, and any additional information will be redundant and does not add value to the study (Hancock et al., 2016). To ensure data saturation, I (a) recruited knowledgeable participants through snowball sampling, (b) was mindful of sample size, (c) carefully articulated interview questions, (d) asked follow-up and probing questions, and (e) collected data from multiple sources.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 contains information regarding the research approach used to find answers to the central research question. Section 2 includes information about my role, participants' role, research methodology and design, population, sample size, and ethical approaches. Furthermore, Section 2 includes a data collection, data organization, and data analysis and concludes with a discussion of study reliability and validity approaches. In Section 3, I will present the study findings. Section 3 includes themes, study contributions to business practices and social change, and recommendations.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The objective of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that women business owners in the events planning business use to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. Though the government of Cameroon has adopted policies to improve gender equality, many women find themselves in disadvantaged positions. About 7% of female leaders in SMEs held leadership positions for 3 to 5 years, and 13% of female leaders have been in leadership positions for more than 10 years (Husain & Xiao, 2016). Goswami (2019) said women entrepreneurs struggle in business because of a lack of leadership skills.

According to participants, business leaders experience functional and adaptive challenges. Discussing leadership capabilities to address both functional and adaptive difficulties is beyond the scope of this research. In this study, I focused on leadership strategies to address adaptive challenges. Participants noted that business owners could address functional challenges using the existing know-how approach found in literature and practices in the events industry. According to participants, adaptive challenges have no known solutions, as each problem is distinct and unique. Study findings revealed improving leadership capabilities to address adaptive challenges could extend beyond the events planning business.

Presentation of the Findings

Sources of data were semi-structured interviews and company documents provided by participants. Yin's five-step data analysis process resulted in three emerging

themes. The identified themes are a) embracing leadership attributes, b) acquiring leadership capabilities, and c) conceptualizing the playing field (see Table 2).

Table 2Frequency of Themes

Themes	N	Incidence
Embracing Leadership Attributes	63	38%
Acquiring Leadership Capabilities	57	35%
Conceptualizing the Playing Field	44	27%

Theme 1: Embracing Leadership Attributes

Subthemes related to embracing leadership attributes are understanding leadership, leadership attributes, and training and education. P1 said that people are often confused between the roles of managers and leaders. P1 posited not all managers are leaders; however, all good leaders possess management skills. When asked to differentiate managers and leaders, P1 said managers follow routines using established guidelines. By contrast, in addition to following established guidelines, leaders are capable of adapting and managing unfamiliar situations to solve problems or accomplish tasks. P1 said a manager in a large department store doing routine procedures does not necessarily exhibit leadership capabilities; however, the same manager controlling chaos and saving the lives of employees and customers during a robbery is acting in a leadership capacity. Participants said that to adjust and manage unfamiliar situations,

female business leaders need skills, tools, and experiences, and these are attainable leadership attributes. P2 said leadership attributes are not limited to CEOs or executives, and anyone can exhibit them by asking questions that no one is asking during group meetings, presenting ideas, and helping others at work

All participants said people acquire leadership attributes through experiences, training, and education. According to participants, the four pillars or attributes of leadership are engagement, accountability, courage, and humility. P1 said to succeed, women business owners in the events planning business need to engage people to do their job right and excel. P3 said engagement makes subordinates or followers feel included as team players, resulting in innovation. P2 said, "We engage people by sharing information, providing needed support, and investing in the team through training, development, and advancement." P5 said social interactions improve employee engagement at work. According to P5, company leaders have an added responsibility to support social interactions outside work. P5 presented an agenda highlighting routine outdoor dining and social activities outside of work. P5 said, "Leaders could gain trust by entering into other people's experiences, listening, understanding, and showing empathy and care."

Participants noted various strategies to improve employees' engagement. P2 said better pay and job promotion improve employees' job engagement. P2 presented the training and personnel development manual. The document revealed that employees exceeding expectations during annual performance reviews could get promoted to higher positions. P1 said leaders engage their employees through centralized access to tools,

knowledge sharing, and a digital workforce. P3 stated that leaders engage employees by making them part of decision-making. According to P3, employees' involvement can influence managerial actions and enable leaders to capture ideas and solve logistical challenges during events planning processes. P2 said, "Engagement can take many forms, and we engage employees through job enrichment, delegating authority in a project, profit sharing, and flexible work schedule."

P2, P4, and P5 said accountability is about building confidence, acting responsibly, and getting the job done. P5 stated leaders need to hold people accountable to complete tasks within an allocated time frame when assigning tasks. P4 suggested to not do tasks for followers but rather expect them to immerse themselves in the process and get it done. All participants noted having a culture of accountability. P2 said events planning constitutes different types of activities, and each of these activities requires some degree of accountability, and therefore, leaders should be vigilant. P2 said leaders need to have explicit knowledge of the business process to address individual and organizational accountability.

Courage, another leadership attribute, is about stepping out of comfort zones, taking calculated risks, embracing diversity, acting as role models, and rejecting stereotypes. According to P3, courage is about acting on convictions and principles while taking a risk. P3 said courage involves enlisting and inspiring trust. P3 said courage is intentional behavior when seeking goals. According to P3, business leaders carry out weekly training and group exercises to help employees develop courage. P3 said business

leaders take leadership roles, volunteer, and take initiatives during strategy development to demonstrate courage.

P3 said courage involves telling the truth and transparency. According to P3, employees have a voice, and leaders respect employees' voices. According to P5, in their company, leaders watch their language to reveal attitudes and emphasize solutions to rather than dwell on problems. P5 company leaders receive training regarding how to prepare emotionally and mentally to take risks. P5 said company leaders routinely bring outside consultants to train employees regarding goal setting, risk-taking, building communication skills, and strategic and contingency planning.

P3 and P4 said humility was an essential leadership attribute. According to participants, humility is about admitting mistakes and being open to criticism.

Participants agreed that all leaders make mistakes. According to P3, humility is a willingness to learn from others. According to P4, humility is about sharing weaknesses and limitations with followers and listening. According to P3, company leaders receive training regarding developing humility, and this constitutes being open to surroundings, transparency, and openness. P3 said leaders need to admit mistakes.

All human beings make mistakes, but acknowledging mistakes, fixing them, and avoiding similar future mistakes shows humility. P3 suggested that leaders need to welcome criticism, give employees freedom, listen, and show respect. P2 also emphasized providing supportive work environments and tools to do the job. P2 said performance improves when people see their leaders looking out for their best interests. P2 presented a document showing company policies that require employees to participate

in weekly meetings with human resources personnel to discuss reviews of immediate supervisors. According to P2, meetings enable business leaders to evaluate supervisors' performances and understand working relationships between leaders and followers.

P4 suggested accepting ambiguity and added leaders should not be over-controlling, and they need to know when to take charge and when to let go or delegate.

P5 suggested keeping journals for self-reflection. P5 said writing journals could enhance leaders' perceptions so they can learn from their actions and provide opportunities for improvement. P5 noted humility is about avoiding micro-managing people because a humble leader accepts that well-trained and skilled people are capable of doing their jobs.

Connecting Theme 1 to the Literature

Theme 1 is about learning and adapting leadership attributes. Participants noted that leaders need to apply leadership attributes to business environments and embrace change. Leitch and Volery (2017) said successful women adaptive leaders adapt to emerging business environments and embrace change. Participants stated that skills, tools, and experiences are attainable. Jones and York (2016) said leadership skills acquired through learned behaviors include on-the-job experience, coaching, mentoring, and formal skills development. Participants stated leaders with the right leadership attributes build confidence and take calculated risks, which are essential for long-term business sustainability. Serea and Hamdan (2018) said risk-taking depends on leadership attributes and suggested taking calculated risks with a designed contingency plan for business continuity. According to participants, leadership attributes enable leaders to relate to followers in order to gain trust and meet organizational objectives.

Understanding leadership and acquiring leadership attributes requires adequate training and education, which could help leaders gain followers' trust, leading to good working relationships.

Connecting Theme 1 to the Conceptual Framework

Participants defined prominent leadership attributes that were applicable to business practices: engagement, accountability, courage, and humility. Participants noted female business owners could acquire leadership attributes either through experience, training, or education. Bass (1985) said transformational leaders are charismatic, adaptive, and people-oriented. Cetin and Kinik (2017) said leaders following transformational styles create a business climate of shared values to meet organizational objectives. Creating a business climate involving shared values requires developing adequate transformational leadership skills through training and education.

Theme 2: Acquiring Leadership Capabilities

Subthemes include adaptive capabilities, avoiding stereotypes and biases, and leadership development plans. According to P3, simply possessing these qualities does not make one a leader. P3 added one needs these qualities to be a good husband or a wife or raise a teenage child, but what matters in the business arena is how one applies these qualities to solve problems.

Leaders need to ask themselves if they can complete tasks, solve problems, and meet challenges. If not, leaders need to have the capacity to understand what went wrong and what is required to rectify the wrong. P5 stated leaders need to consider three problems: one's strength related to leadership attributes, tools or media to implement

these attributes, and the nature of the problem itself. P5 said the nature of the problem or challenge determines the type of leadership attributes needed. All participants stated that hiring managers conduct thorough vetting processes to ensure applicants have required knowledge and experiences that are relevant to jobs.

According to P2, to acquire leadership capabilities, one must possess uniqueness and belongingness. P2 said, "You must possess both." P2 said adaptive leaders have pleasing personalities that intrigue followers. According to P2, to implement a leader's plan in the workplace, in the beginning, a leader needs a first follower whom they have to embrace as an equal. P2 said with first followers, leaders can attract more people to follow, and as more people join, others who are watching and observing also join the team to avoid being outcasts.

All participants noted that leadership capabilities require an adaptive mindset because adaptive challenges have no established solutions. P2 added that teams are becoming more diverse in nationalism, ethnicity, or religion, and not all operate in the same standards. P2 posited that a positive outlook from a leader embraces diversity and builds an inclusive culture where everyone operates or functions at the same standard. Therefore, according to P2, adaptive leaders do not alienate people, are open to ideas, and make people feel included. P2 presented the employee handbook, and the document revealed company culture and employees' fringe benefits, pay, vacations, and work-life balance. All participants noted work-life balance and good benefits are essential so that employees have no mental reservations and are happy at work to do their job well.

Participants stated everyone has some unconscious bias: positive, negative, accurate, or wrong. Participants noted that bias could result from stereotypes, which could distort leaders and misrepresent reality. Participants provided various strategies their company leaders deploy to minimize biases. P1 suggested critical self-reflection and pushing back personal bias, and asking others to do the same in the organization. P2 opined the need to be vocal on diversity as such action would amplify the message when done repeatedly by the leaders and others within the business.

P3 noted that leaders need to understand the root causes, forms of bias, and the frequency of occurrences in teams and organizations. P4 said that to minimize stereotypes and bias, and the leaders have embraced diversity. P4 said diversity is attainable by leaders connecting with people in small talks to get to know them well. P5 contended holding employees accountable for their judgment and empowering their willpower. P4 suggested giving others who are different a chance to be part of decision-making. P5 urged mentoring people while P3 noted partnering with champions of diversity to learn from them.

All participants discussed using a personal leadership development plan as everyone could be adaptive leaders. When asked to elaborate on becoming an adaptive leader, P2 said that business owners need to identify leaders from the present time or the past that they admire. These leaders could be from the workplace or personal life. Then P2 suggested searching the leader's attributes (engagement, accountability, courage, and humility) that one admires and try understanding how these leaders applied these attributes in their work or life. P4 stated business leaders have a leadership vision. P2 said

that business leaders need to understand the kind of leaders they want to be and do something different by embracing leadership attributes at work or in life. P2 added that business leaders need to visualize leadership vision for today and the future. P2 said that employees get a personal journal book to reflect their activities. P2 presented a copy of the journal book. The document revealed calendars, notes, famous quotes, and daily exercises to build leadership capabilities. P2 said those journals are for employees to keep, and they do not need to share with anyone.

All participants stated that business owners need feasible short-term and long-term goals. According to P2, business leaders need to familiarize themselves with a task they plan to accomplish to meet their short-term and long goals. P2 suggested writing a statement regarding the long-term goals and post it on the office wall as a constant reminder of what one plans to accomplish. P2 further suggested deciding what leaders need to do this week, next week, and a month to meet their short-term goal. P3 also stated long-term planning by determining the foundation leaders need to set this week, next three or six months to meet their long-term goal. All participants suggested to self-reflect personal biases to ensure it does not interject in their tasks. Then participants commentated to integrate four pillars of leadership: engagement, accountability, courage, and humility in daily actions.

Connecting Theme 2 to the Literature

Participants noted person-job fit is essential. Qin et al. (2018) suggested seeking an intelligent way involving human judgment to match talent qualification to the job requirement. According to the participants, female leaders could unconsciously inject

bias based on certain stereotypes and, therefore, suggested embracing critical selfreflection by maintaining personal journals. Outdated stereotypes based on social norms
could be detrimental to women's career and personal life (UN Women 2019). Participants
suggested maintaining a personal development plan to focus on business goals, vision,
and improving performance. Following a personal development plan and seeking
feedback from others could help leaders set goals, reflect on performance, and enhance
career progression (Casey, 2021). Irby et al. (2017) stated training and mentoring enable
individuals to cultivate practical communication skills, healthy relationships, critical
thinking skills, self-sufficiency, and a deep understanding of professional identity.

Participants noted developing leadership capabilities such as managing daily tasks,
adapting to change, taking risks, and solving problems through training, mentorship, and
fellowship.

Connecting Theme 2 to the Conceptual Framework

In theme 2, participants supported an adaptive mindset, minimizing stereotypes and biases to remain sustainable. Moreover, participants suggested building good working relations, trust, and morality. Jovanovic and Ciric (2016), who supported Burns' transformational leadership approach, believed that transformational leadership enables leaders to obtain higher-order values and heighten morality through trust. Participants noted that possessing leadership attributes and acquiring tools does not result in good leadership, but leaders manage the challenges to accomplish tasks. Therefore, participants suggested embracing an adaptive mindset to bring needed change to accomplish a task. Perreault et al. (2015) reasoned that Bass's transformational leadership

concept developed in 1985 as part of a full range of leadership theories applicable to the broader business landscape to bring organizational change. Adaptive capabilities are about addressing the unknown, which require a leader to have a broader knowledge of the business landscape and operating environment. A transformational leadership style is a full range of leadership that could help a leader adapt suitable solutions to address adaptive challenges.

Theme 3: Conceptualizing the Playing Field

The subthemes under theme 3 are adaptive challenges, past experiences, and understanding the business landscape. According to the participants, leadership fails because people do not realize the true essence of leadership. Therefore, participants described leadership from their perspective and stated that leadership is not about personal abilities, neither are the tools and instruments used in practicing leadership. P1 said, "Though these are important, leadership is meeting tough challenges to get work done." P2 explained leadership with an example of pottery. P2 noted that a ceramist uses hands (action) and tools to build a sculpture in pottery. P2 added that action resembles experience and knowledge in a business context, and tools could be leadership attributes such as accountability, courage, engagement, and humility. According to P2, action alone does not define leadership, nor do the tools, but building sculpture. Therefore, according to p2, "Leadership is how a ceramist handles adaptive challenges to build that fine piece of sculpture."

Participants said that the challenges that lie within the task make work difficult. In business, leaders face adaptive challenges and functional challenges. According to P5,

functional challenges rest within people of authority, and they use existing know-how processes or techniques to solve problems. P5 provided an example to differentiate between functional challenges and adaptive changes. P5 said that if the network is down in the data center, it could be a functional challenge, which leaders could fix it using existing know-how techniques. According to P5, a manager needs to know the difference between functional and adaptive challenges to be a good leader. According to P5, adaptive challenges lie within people and require a new methodology and approach to business. P5 provided an example of addressing adaptive chainages. In example, P5 said that the adaptive challenges could be when a company decides to update the entire technological infrastructure with new software and devices and assisting people to give up something they find comfortable and adjust to change.

P4 said that functional challenges could be solved through managerial expertise, whereas adaptive challenges require building capacities. P5 noted that the management team routinely carries live and virtual classes to improve technical and problem-solving skills and develop employees' adaptive mindsets. According to P4, employees receive training on influencing followers, peers, and supervisors by identifying the business challenges and developing solutions. P2 and P1 noted training in change management through human resource personnel and change experts on organizational design, organizational justice, and emotional intelligence to develop an adaptive mindset.

P4 and P5 said that many leaders fail to distinguish between functional and adaptive challenges. They apply functional solutions to adaptive challenges or vice versa. P4 recommended person-job fit with experience to manage adaptive challenges

and suggested leadership exercises, broadening the mindset through training from professional consultants to develop adaptive capabilities. P4 presents documents related to in-house training in person and through the company portal to develop employees' leadership capabilities. The documents also revealed case studies relating to challenges and solutions for the events planning business.

P1 said that the best approach to build leadership capabilities is by using ourselves as the case. Using experience as a case could enable a leader to evaluate one's strengths and weaknesses. According to P1, experience, both favorable and unfavorable, could be a good teacher. All participants noted that leaders could acquire leadership skills through practice. In P2's company, training includes leaders visiting their past experiences at work and visualizing how they could have operated differently or trying to understand how things would have turned out if they knew then what they know now. P5 recommended keeping a reflective journal to reflect on past experiences. P5 presented a copy of the journal that the company recommends to employees. P5 said each events planning business is unique because of the detailing involved. Dotting down activities and challenges could assist a business owner in planning the next event effectively.

P3 said that leaders need to have a thorough understanding of the business landscape to be effective. P3 referred to the understanding business landscape as watching the view from the balcony. When asked to elaborate, P2 said that detachment and observation from above could provide some clarity. Both P2 and P3 supported the notion of viewing the problem from above. P2 stated that many leaders fail because of their inability to diagnose a problem. A wrong diagnosis of the problem could result in

the wrong solution. P3 noted that business leaders need empowerment, network, and resources to address the problem once identified. According to P2, company leaders need to understand the competitors' strengths and weaknesses, thoroughly understand services offered, market outlook, and customers' expectations. P2 recommended business owners engage in event planning activities with the team, attend the events, and observe. P3 showed the list of similar events planning businesses in the area. P3 said the leaders built a network with other events planning business leaders to share resources and learn. P2 said understating the business landscape is essential to be a good leader. What approach worked in one event planning activity may not be as effective in different events planning activities. P2 presented a document relating to events planning activities, which revealed eight types of events planning activities that present different challenges and require distinct approaches.

Participants noted that leadership is not about personal abilities; it is about understanding the task, meeting challenges, and applying the right leadership attributes. Participants noted that the applicability of leadership attributes could vary depending on the work. Therefore, realizing what works and what does not require an adaptive mindset, understanding the business landscape, and learning from past experiences.

Connecting Theme 3 to the Literature

According to the participants, leadership meets tough challenges to get work done through an innovative mindset and embracing leadership attributes, which require challenging the status quo. Ritter and Mostert (2017) contended that innovative thinking is one of the core competencies that allow entrepreneurs to deal with opportunities and

challenges in a complex and fast-changing world. Participants stated two types of challenges leaders encounter, and those are functional and adaptive challenges.

Participants suggested solving functional challenges through existing procedures or using other known approaches. However, adaptive challenges require a new approach. Pak et al. (2020) labeled functional challenges as technical challenges that leaders could solve through existing tools, procedures, and expert advice. Functional challenges have known solutions, and in contrast, leaders need experience and a leadership development plan to acquire needed skills to address adaptive challenges that have no known solutions.

Moreover, participants' version of adaptive challenges aligns with Pak et al.'s (2020) concept. The authors noted that leaders need stakeholder collaboration and adopt new norms and beliefs to address problems with no known solutions. P2 and P3 stated watching the business landscape from above brings clarity on the nature of the problem. Sunderman et al. (2020) stated that the adaptive leadership approach includes getting to the balcony for a better view and identifying the business challenges. Participants suggest the business owners use self as the case to understand the success and failure of leadership. Khoshhal and Guraya (2016) stated that leadership is more of an experience and expertise that leaders learn to develop over time. Reflecting on past experiences could help understand one's strengths, weaknesses, and capabilities.

Connecting Theme 3 to the Conceptual Framework

According to the participants, to address adaptive challenges, female business leaders need to unlock innovative capabilities, learn from experience, and have a birdseye view of adaptive challenges that rest in work. Leadership is only effective if a leader

can mobilize followers to pursuit the leader's vision. Silva and Mendis (2017) reached an overall conclusion that women who exhibited transformational leadership styles could develop, mentor, mobilize followers because of their ability to motivate people.

Participants posited that the transformational leadership style is essential for African female leaders to address adaptive challenges because the transformational leadership approach stimulates new ideas, creates a vision, and encourages people to rise to the challenge to mold a prosperous future for a business. Su et al. (2019) claimed that the four pillars of transformational leaders that enable followers to fulfill group interests are charisma or idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration in achieving organizational goals. A leadership development plan focusing on four pillars of transformation leadership style could help leaders build adaptive capabilities and minimize stereotypes.

Applications to Professional Practice

According to Meyer and Mostert (2016), although African women's full potential as business owners remained unleashed, female-owned businesses were increasingly growing in the African continent. However, according to Sadera et al. (2019), women entrepreneurs lacked the necessary leadership skills to remain sustainable in their businesses. In a study conducted on the antecedents of women leadership in SMEs, Husain and Xiao (2016) found that only 7% of female leaders held leadership positions for 3 to 5 years, and only 13% of females were in leadership positions for more than ten years. Developing women's leadership skills could unleash the full potential of women entrepreneurs, impacting the growth of women-owned businesses in the continent.

The study findings revealed the need for leadership development among women business owners in Cameroon. The participants further suggested embracing an adaptive mindset to develop the needed knowledge and skills. Adaptation and implementation of a leadership mindset and suitable leadership approaches could enable business owners to initiate and manage the changes necessary to adapt to changing circumstances (Jones & York, 2016). The participants noted that women business owners could acquire an adaptive mindset through formal and informal training.

The identified strategies to develop leadership skills include networking, engagement, experience, and workplace learning. The benefits of leadership skills are multifold. Turkina (2017) argued that networking fosters business growth by generating knowledge spillovers. According to Chhotray et al. (2018), leaders engaging followers by involving them in decision-making could improve business productivity. Participants noted one could build leadership capabilities through previous experience. Leadership is more of an experience and expertise that leaders learn to develop (Khoshhal & Guraya, 2016). Steinhoff (2015) opined that innate leadership characteristics within an individual could manifest only when developed or cultivated over time. Harrison et al. (2019) stated that entrepreneurial leadership enables entrepreneurs to maintain their competitiveness in a dynamic and challenging environment. Business leaders could acquire an entrepreneurial mindset through experience or cultivate over time through training, education, and spillover knowledge from networking.

The strategies identified in themes could enable business owners to remain innovative, embrace change, and exploit opportunities. The leadership skills in women-

owned businesses could stimulate new ideas, improve team orientation and collaboration (Msila & Netshtangani, 2017). Adaptive mindset and skillset could help leaders identify, develop, and exploit new business opportunities (Fabio et al., 2016). In the context of hyper-competition, Leitch and Volery (2017) argued that successful entrepreneurial leaders are capable of adapting to emerging business environments and embrace change. As noted by participants, an adaptive mindset could enable women entrepreneurs to exploit opportunities and utilize resources to embrace needed change for organizational success.

Implications for Social Change

The objective of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that women business owners in the events planning business use to improve leadership skills to succeed in business beyond 5 years. Adaptation and implementation of identified leadership concepts could improve performance and productivity, leading to business continuity and growth. Profitable companies are likely to be involved in social and environmental initiatives because corporate social responsibilities have cost implications. Companies' involvement in society could enhance the quality of life and environmental prosperity (Zahra & Wright, 2015). An additional implication for social change includes business growth resulting from leadership capabilities, which could increase employment opportunities. The rise in employment opportunities could result in less crime, improved standard of living, and tax revenues going to the local government. The government could use tax revenues to improve senior housing and develop parks and recreation facilities and school systems, which are beneficial to the people.

Recommendations for Action

According to the participants, many leaders fail to understand what constitutes leadership. An experience by itself is not leadership; neither are skills and tools. Again, participants noted experience in a craft is not leadership, but the process of creating something relevant and meaningful (craft) is leadership. Therefore, my recommendation for leaders is to understand better what constitutes leadership as it pertains to their business. Upon understanding leadership capabilities, women business leaders should reflect on their past experiences and learn what they did right, what went wrong, and how they could have improved if they knew then what they know now. One can acquire experience through learning. The second recommendation is to explore leadership tools or attributes such as engagement ability, accountability, courage, and humility. If women entrepreneurs lack these leadership attributes, I recommend that they attain them through mentoring, followership, and training. Participants noted leaders could acquire both experience and leadership attributes.

Participants made a clear distinction between functional challenges and adaptive challenges. I recommend women business leaders analyze if work requires functional capabilities or adaptive capabilities to complete. Functional capabilities require using existing processes, protocols, and procedures, whereas adaptive capabilities do not have known solutions. If tasks require adaptive capabilities, the recommendation is to view the work from a broad perspective to understand the problem better. Once the problem is apparent, business owners could decide what attributes apply to the current problem and

apply them with their acquired experience. The process of systematic implementation constitutes leadership.

The study findings fill the gap in the literature as the results of this study revealed leadership concepts that apply to all businesses besides events planning. Therefore, business leaders from all industries could use the study findings for their benefit. Work varies across industries, the operating environment is different for businesses, making leadership a complex, multifaceted concept. Academic scholars could use the study findings and expand upon the concept of adaptive capabilities of leadership as the business environment continues to change due to regulatory, technology, and globalization challenges. I plan to disseminate study findings through ProQuest and peerreview journal publications.

Recommendations for Further Research

The study had few limitations: the researcher's bias due to the researcher's interest in the study phenomenon. Throughout the study, I was mindful of my preconceived beliefs on the study topic by keeping a journal. Therefore, the study outcome is free of the researcher's bias or stereotypes. The second limitation was the usefulness of participants' responses in answering the research question. During the interview, I asked follow-up questions to extract rich data. Considering intricate details and types of events planning businesses, I geared the interview questions towards leadership building. The study findings revealed a broad view on improving leadership capabilities to address adaptive challenges, whose practicality could extend beyond the events planning business.

Though the study findings have broad applicability in business outside of the events planning business, future researchers could conduct additional research with a larger sample size using leaders from different industries to extract new knowledge on leadership. Moreover, future researchers could conduct a study using the phenomenological design to capture the conscious experience of academic faculty specializing in leadership-building capabilities. The first person's perspective from academics could provide theoretical implications of leadership that business leaders could relate with their practical experiences. Discussing all capabilities of leadership is beyond the scope of this study. The study findings revealed building leadership capabilities to address adaptive challenges. Future researchers could focus on functional challenges.

Reflections

When I started my Doctorate in Business Administration studies at Walden University, my daughter told her cousin, while they were playing, that one day, the world would begin addressing her dad as Dr. Henry. She was just 4 years old, and it was in the early months of my studies. When I started my doctorate studies at Walden University, I looked at the doctoral study timeline. I felt comfortable knowing I could acquire a terminal degree in the anticipated time frame. However, once I engaged in the program, I experienced the rigor that elongated my study completion time. In many instances, I felt obtaining a doctoral was beyond my means and felt like giving up. On occasions like this, support from family members and encouragement from the academic chair helped me stay determined. I kept the momentum going, and I am glad I reached the finish line.

Similar to the study findings, completing a doctoral study at Walden University requires addressing adaptive challenges. During my time at Walden University, I have enjoyed cordial relationships with classmates and instructors, some of which will last a lifetime. As a result of the rigor in the DBA program, my outlook has changed. I can look at any business through an eye of an executive, write in a scholarly fashion, and feel comfortable bringing social change in Cameroon by empowering women entrepreneurs to excel in their role to gain societal prestige and recognition. Completing my studies at Walden is an experience of resilience that I will take with me for the rest of my life.

Conclusion

The female entrepreneur's role is evident in productivity, job creation, and economic growth. However, about 7% of female leaders in SME held leadership positions for 3 to 5 years, and only 13% of female leaders have been in leadership positions for more than ten years (Husain & Xiao, 2016). Sadera et al. (2019) stated in a study finding that women entrepreneurs lacked the necessary leadership skills to excel in their business ventures.

In this qualitative case study, I explored leadership-building strategies. Discussing leadership capabilities to address all challenges is beyond the scope of this research. The study findings revealed building leadership capabilities to address adaptive challenges. The strategies included combing experience and tools in task execution, learning from past experiences, acquiring leadership attributes, and viewing the work from the balcony to better understand challenges. The study findings revealed that leaders fail because of their inability to conceptualize the leadership concept. The participants demonstrated the

leadership concept with examples as they noted that leaders are not capable of building and applying leadership capabilities until they grasp the true essence of leadership.

References

- Aalateeg, S. (2017). Literature review on leadership theories. *IOSR Journal of Business* and Management, 19(4), 35-43. https://doi.org/10.9790/487X-1911033543
- Acharya, A., Sharma, A., Nitishbhali, D.A., & Chowdhury, D. A. (2018). The impact of transformational leadership on motivation and performance of the follower. *Elk Asia Pacific Journal of Leadership and Innovation Management*, *4*(2), 1-8. https://www.elkjournals.com/masterAdmin/Uploadfolder
- Ahmed, S. P., & Ahmed, M. T. Z. (2014). Qualitative research: A decisive element to epistemological & ontological discourse. *Journal of Studies in Social Sciences*, 8, 298-313. http://infinitypress.info/index.php/jsss
- Chatterejee, N. & Das, N. (2016). A study on the impact of key entrepreneurial skills on business success of India micro-enterprises: A case study of Jharkland region.

 Global Business Review, 17, 226-237. doi:10.1111/1468-0432.00174
- Aldulaimi, S. (2018). Leadership development program and leaders performance for midlevel managers in Saudi petroleum company ARAMCO. *Arab Economic and Business Journal*, 13(1), 15-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aebj.2018.02.001
- Al-Malki, M., & Juan, W. (2018). Leadership styles and job performance: A literature review. *Journal of International Business Research and Marketing*, *3*(3), 40-49. https://doi.org/10.18775/jibrm.1849-8558.2015.33.3004
- Almahry, F.F., Serea, A.M., & Hamdan, A.M. (2018). A review paper on entrepreneurship education and entrepreneurship skills. *Journal of Entrepreneurship Education*, 21(25), 1-7.

- https://www.researchgate.net/publication/330998647_A_review_paper_on_entrepreneurship_education_and_entrepreneurs%27_skills
- Alwazzan, L. (2017). When we say leadership, we must also say followership. *The Association for the Study of Medical Education*, *51*(5), 560-562. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13228
- Amador-Ruiz, J.P., & Briones-Penalver, A.J. (2017). Study of female entrepreneurship:

 An empirical evidence in the municipality of Leon in Nicaragua. *Tourism and Management Studies*, *13*(3), 73-82. https://doi.org/10.8089/tms.2017.13308
- Amelia, M., Pastore, S., Scardigno, A. & Giancaspro, M.L. (2015). Formal and informal learning in the workplace: A research review. *International Journal of Training and Development*, 19(1),1-17. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijtd.12044
- Apuke, O.D. (2017). Quantitative research method: A synopsis approach. *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 6(11), 40-47. https://doi.org/10.12816/0040336
- Arris, S. M., Fitzsimmons, D. A., & Mawson, S. (2015). Moving towards an enhanced community palliative support service (EnComPaSS): Protocol for a mixed method study. *BMC Palliative Care*, *14*(7), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-015-0012-4
- Arshad, A.S., Rasli, A., Arshad, A.A., & Zain, Z.M. (2016). Transformational leadership and business performance: An insight from technology-based SMEs in Malaysia (Paper presentation). 3rd International Conference on Business and Economics, Mara, Malaysia.

- Asrar-al-Haq, M., & Anwar, S. (2018). The many faces of leadership: Proposing research agenda through a review of literature. *Future Business Journal*, 4(2),179-188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbj.2018.06.002
- Atsan, N. (2016). Failure experiences of entrepreneurs: Causes and learning outcomes.

 Journal of Social and Behavioral Science. Advance online publication.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.11.054
- Bahiru, B., & Mengistu, A.B. (2018). The challenges of women leaders of business organizations in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, in balancing work-family responsibilities. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 19(2), 140-158. http://vc.bridgew.edu/jiws/vol19/iss2/9
- Baker, J. D. (2016). The purpose, process, and methods of writing a literature review. *AORN Journal*, 103(3), 265–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aorn.2016.01.016
- Barnham, C. (2015). Quantitative and qualitative research: Perceptual foundations.

 *International Journal of Market Research, 57(6), 837-854.

 https://doi.org/10.2501/ijmr-2015-070
- Barret, D., & Twycross, A. (2018). Data collection in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 21(3), 63-64. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/eb-2018-102939
- Bass, B.M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectation (1st ed.). Free Press.
- Batool, H., & Ullah, K. (2017). Successful antecedents of women entrepreneurs: A case of underdeveloped nations. *Entrepreneurship Research Journal*. Advance online publication, 7(2), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1515/erj-2016-0066
- Belotto, M.J. (2018). Data analysis method for qualitative research: Managing the

- challenges of coding, interrater reliability, and thematic analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2625-2633. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss11/2
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001
- Benson, P. (2014). Narrative inquiry in applied linguistics research. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0267190514000099
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexibility in qualitative research. Qualitative Research, 15(2), 219-234.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112468475
- Berg, B., & Lune, H. (2012). *Qualitative research methods for the social sciences* (8th ed.). Pearson Publishers.
- Beskow, L. M., Check, D. K., & Ammarell, N. (2014). Research participants' understanding of and reactions to certificates of confidentiality. *AJOB**Primary Research, 5(1), 12-22. https://doi.org/10.1080/21507716.2013.813596
- Bharthrajan, V. (2014). Women entrepreneurs and problems of women entrepreneurs.

 International Journal of Innovative Research in Science, Engineering and
 Technology, 3(9), 16104-16110.
 - https://www.ijirset.com/upload/2014/september/45_women%20entrepreneur.pdf
- Blair, B.A., & Bligh, M.C. (2018). Looking for leadership in all the wrong places: The impact of culture on proactive followership and follower dissent. *Journal of Social Issues*, 74(1), 129-143. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12260

- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., & Campbell, C. (2016). Member checking, a tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation. *Qualitative Health Research*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/
 10.1177/1049732316654870
- Bliss, L. A. (2016). Phenomenological research: Inquiry to understand the meanings of people's experiences. *International Journal of Adult Vocational Education and Technology (IJAVET)*, 7(3), 14-26. https://doi.org/10.4018/ijavet.2016070102
- Blumenthal, D., Abrams, M., & Nuzum, R. (2015). The affordable care act at 5 years. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. Advance online publication.

 https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMhpr1503614
- Boateng, A. (2018). Contextualizing women's entrepreneurship in Africa. *African Female Entrepreneurship*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-65846-9_1
- Boermia, M., Coyle, E.A., Dietrich, M.A., Dintzner, M.R., Drayton, S.J., Early, J.L, & Edginton, A.N. (2017). Point/counterpoint: Are outstanding leaders born or made? *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 81(3), 2-5. https://doi:10.5688/ajpe81358
- Bouzekraoui, H.,& Ferhane, D. (2017). An exploratory study of women's entrepreneurship in Morocco. *Journal of Entrepreneurship: Research and Practice*. Advance online publication, *3*(6), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.5171/2017.869458
- Bradshaw, C., Atkinson, S., & Doody, O. (2017). Employing a qualitative description

- approach in health care research. *Global Qualitative Nursery Research*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393617742282
- Bretschneider, P.J., Cirilli, S., Jones, T., Lynch, S., & Wilson, N.A. (2017). Document review as a qualitative research data collection method for teacher research. *Sage Research Method Cases*. Advance online publication. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781473957435
- Bromley, E., Mikesell, L., Jones, F., & Khodyakov, D. (2015). Framing health matters.

 From Subject to Participant: Ethics and the evolving role of community in health research. *American Journal of Public Health*. Advane online publication.

 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302403
- Brown, C. (2019). Exploring the current context for professional learning networks, the conditions for their success and research needs moving forward. *Emerald Open Research*. Advance online publication.

 https://doi.org/10.12688/emeraldopenres.12904.1
- Burbaugh, B., & Kaufman, E.K. (2017). An examination of the relationship between leadership development approaches, networking ability and social capital outcomes. *Journal of Leadership Education*, *16*(4), 20-39.

 https://doi.org/10.12806/V16/14/R2
- Burns, J. M. (1978). *Leadership* (1st ed.). Harper & Row Publishers.
- Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z

- Byrne, J., Fattoum, S., & Garcia, M.C.D. (2019). Role models and women entrepreneurs:

 Entrepreneurial superwoman has her way. *Journal of Small Business*Management. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12426
- Cai, W., Lysova, E.I., Khapova, S.N., & Bossink, B.A.G. (2019). Does entrepreneurial leadership foster creativity among employees and teams? The mediating role of creative efficacy beliefs. *Journal of Business and Psychology*. Advance Online. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-018-9536-y
- Carlson, E.R. (2016). Lifelong learning and professional development. *Journal of oral* and maxillofacial surgery, 74(5), 875-876. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joms.2016.01.018
- Casey, R. (2021). Importance of feedback and personal leadership development plans. *In Practice*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1002/inpr.9
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21 (5), 811-831. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss5/2/
- Castleberry, A. (2014). NVivo 10 [software program]. Version 10. QSR International; 2012. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 78(1), 1-2. https://doi:10.5688/ajpe78125
- Chatterejee, N. & Das, N. (2016). A study on the impact of key entrepreneurial skills on business success of India micro-enterprises: A case study of Jharkland region.

 Global Business Review, 17(1), 226-237. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0432.00174

- Chhotray, S., Sivertson, O., & Tell, J. (2018). The role of leadership, vision, and empowerment in born global economies. *Journal of International*Entrepreneurship, 16(4), 38-57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10843-017-0201-8
- Cetin, M.O., & Kinik, F.S.F. (2015). An analysis of academic leadership behavior from the perspective of transformational leadership. *Procedia- Social and Behavioral Sciences*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.10.122
- Choi, S.L., Goh, F.C., Adam, M.B., & Tan, O.K. (2016). Transformational leadership, empowerment and job satisfaction: The mediating role of employee empowerment. *Human Resources for Health*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-016-0171-2
- Choonara, S., Goudge, J., Nxumalo, N., & Eyles, J. (2017). Significance of informal (on-the-job) learning and leadership development in health systems: Lessons from a district finance team in South Africa. *BMJ Global Health*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2016-000138
- Cincotta, D. (2015). An ethnography: An inquiry into agency alignment meetings.

 Journal of Business Studies 7(1), 95-106.

 http://allieadacademies.org/public/default/aspx
- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(15), 19-27. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.21.5.19. e1240
- Cullen-Lester, K., & Woehler, M. (2016). Network-based leadership development: A guiding framework and resources for management education. *Journal of*

Management Education, 40(3), 321-358.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1052562915624124

- Dasgupta, M. (2015). Exploring the relevance of case study research. *The Journal of Business Perspectives*, 19(2), 147- 160. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262915575661
- Dejonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L.M. (2018). Semi-structured interviews in primary care research: A balance of relationship and vigor. *Family Medicine and Community Health*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Department of Health, Education, and Welfare (1979). *The Belmont Report*.

 https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/index.html
- Downton, J.V. (1973). *Rebel leadership: Commitment and charisma in the revolutionary process* (1st ed.). Free Press Publishers.
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data.

 Nurse Researcher, 20(5), 28–32. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327
- Doran, J., McCarthy, N., & O'Connor, M. (2018). The role of entrepreneurship in stimulating economic growth in developed and developing countries. *Cogent Economics and Finance*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/23322039.2018.1442093
- Ebneyamini, S, & Moghadam, M.R.S. (2018). Towards developing a framework for conducting case study research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/1177/1609406918817954
- Efstathios, D., Thomas, A., & Desponia, K., & Maria, L. (2018). Creativity and

- entrepreneurship: The role of gender and personality. *International Journal of Business and Econopatternmic Sciences Applied Research*, 11(1), 7-12. https://doi.org/10.25103/ijbesar.111.01
- Ene, M.C., Vizinuic, C., & Tasnadi, A. (2019). A behavioral model of failure in business.

 *Theoretical and Applied Economics, 26(3), 151-158.

 http://store.ectap.ro/articole/1410.pdf
- Esmer, Y., & Dayi, F. (2018). Entrepreneurial leadership: A theoretical framework.

 *Research Gate, 4(2), 113-124. https://doi.org/10.30798/makuiibf.332570
- Fabio, A.D., Bucci, O., & Gori, A. (2016). High entrepreneurship, leadership, and professionalism (HELP): Toward an integrated, empirically based perspective. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01842
- Felix, C., Aparicio, S., & Urbano, D. (2019). Leadership as a driver of entrepreneurship:

 An international exploratory study. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise*Development, 26(3), 397- 420. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-03-2018-0106
- Ferri, L., Ginesti, G., Spano, R., & Zampella, A. (2018). Exploring the entrepreneurial intention of female students in Italy. *Journal of Open Innovation*, 4(3), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.3390/joiitmc4030027
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. The *Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss9/3
- Garg, S., & Agarwal, P. (2017). Problems and prospects of woman entrepreneurship: A review of literature. *IOSR-Journal of Business and Management*, 19(1), 55-60.

https://doi.org/10.9790/487x-1901065560

- Garton, E. (2017). How to be an inspiring leader. *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2017/04/how-to-be-an-inspiring-leader
- Gatti, P., Ghislieri, C., & Cortese, C.G. (2017). Relationship between followers' behaviors and job satisfaction in a sample of nurses. *Plos One*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185905
- Gaya, H.J., & Smith, E.E. (2016). Developing a qualitative single case study in the strategic management realm: An appropriate management design? *International Journal of Business Management and Economic Research*, 7(2), 529-538. https://www.ijbmer.com/docs/volumes/vol7issue2/ijbmer2016070201.pdf
- Gbasabeh, M.S., & Privoteria, M. (2017). Transformational leadership: Building an effective culture to manage organizational knowledge. *The Journal of Value-Based Leadership*, 10 (2), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.22543/0733.102.1187
- Gipson, A.N., Pfaff, D.L., Mendelsohn, D.B., Catenacci, L.T., & Burke, W.W. (2017).

 Women and leadership: Selection, development, leadership style and performance. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *53*(1), 32–65.

 https://doi.org/0.1177/0021886316687247
- Gonfa, B.D. (2019). Review on components of transformational leadership. *Arabian Journal of Business Management Review*, 9(3), 1-5.

 https://www.hilarispublisher.com/open-access/review-on-components-of-transformational-leadership.pdf
- Goswami, P. (2019). Literature review: Problem and challenges of women entrepreneurs.

- International Journal in Management and Social Science, 7(4), 127-140. https://ijmr.net.in
- Haak-Saheem, W., & K. Darwish, T. (2014). The role of knowledge management in creating a culture of learning: The case of Dubai municipality. *Management Decision*, 52(9), 1611-1629. https://doi.org/10.1108/md-08-2013-0427
- Hard, R. (2018). Learning about being an event planner. *Careers*.

 https://www.indeed.com/career-advice/careers/what-does-an-event-planner-do
- Hancock, M. E., Amankwaa, L., Revell, M. A., & Mueller, D. (2016). Focus group data saturation: A new approach to data analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(11), 2124-2130.

https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss11/13

- Harrison, C., Bernard, K., & Paul, S. (2017). Entrepreneurial leadership in a developing economy: A skill-based analysis. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise*Development, 25(2), 1-40. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-05-2017-0160
- Harrison, C., Bernard, K., & Paul, S. (2019). Entrepreneurial leadership: A systematic literature review. *International Review of Entrepreneurship*, *14*(2), 235-264. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/331589807
- Harrison, H., Birks, M., Franklin, R., & Mills, J. (2017). Case study research:

 Foundations and methodological orientations. *Qualitative Social Research*Forum. http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs1701195.
- Hartviksen, T.A., Sjolie, B.M., Aspfors, J., & Uhrenfeldt, L. (2018). Healthcare middle manager's experiences developing leadership capacity and capability in a public

- funded learning network. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3259-
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hawken, M. (2016). The 10 top trends driving women's entrepreneurship in Africa in 2016. *Lioness of Africa*. http://www.lionessesofafrica.com/the-edit-blog/2016/5/22/the-top-10-trends-driving-womens-entrepreneurship-in-africa-in-2016
- Hechavarria, D., Bullough, A., Brush, C., & Edelman, L. (2018). High growth women's entrepreneurship: Fueling social and economic development. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 57(1), 5-13. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12503
- Heesterman, K. (2016). The collaborative economy's impact on events. *Meetingmax*. https://meetingmax.cc/updates/news/the-collaborative-economys-impact-on-events/
- Hennink, S.L., Kaiser, B.N., & Weber, M.B. (2019). What influences saturation?

 Estimating sample sizes in focus group research. *Qualitative Health Research*,

 29(10), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318821692
- Hughes, A. S. (2016, April 29). Mixed method research. *Association for Psychological Science*. https://www.psychologicalscience.org/observer/mixed-methods-research
- Hund, A.k., Churchill, A.C., Faist, A.M., Hawilla, C.A., Stowell, S.M.L., McCreery, H.F., McCreery, F.H., Julienne, N., Pinzone, C.A., & Scordata, E.S.C. (2018).

- Transforming mentorship in STEM by training scientists to be better leaders.

 Academic Practice in Ecology and Evolution, 8(20), 9962-9974.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4527
- Husain, R.B.M., & Xiao, L.X. (2016). The antecedents of women leadership in SMEs:
 The Malaysian senior female management perspective. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 11(5), 179-210.
 https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v11n5p179
- Irby, B.J., Boswell, J.N., Hewitt, K.K., Lynch, J., Abdelrahman, N., & Jeong, S. (2017).

 The mentoring relationship. *Mentoring and Tutoring: Partner in Learning Journal*, 25(2), 119-122. https://doi.org/10.1080/13611267.2017.1413498
- Iwu, C.G., & Nxopo, Z. (2015). The unique obstacles of female entrepreneurship in the tourism industry in Western Cape, South Africa. *Common Wealth Youth and Development*, 13(2), 55-71. https://doi.org/10.25159/1727-7140/1146
- Jackson, T. (2017). African female entrepreneurship rates highest in the world. *Disrupt***Africa. https://disrupt-africa.com/2017/09/african-female-entrepreneurship-rates-highest-in-world/
- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. *Journal of Basic Clinical Pharmacy*, *5*(4), 87-88. https://doi.org/10.4103/0976-0105.141942
- John S., & Chattopadhyay P. (2015). Factors impacting leadership effectiveness: A literature review. Arabian Journal of Business Management Review, 5(6), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.4172/2223-5833.1000156

- Johnson, C.P. (2018). Leadership development method: A literature review of leadership development strategies and practice. *The Sport Journal*, 21(2), 3-5.

 https://thesportjournal.org/article/leadership-development-method-a-literature-review-of-leadership-development-strategy-and-tactics/
- Johnson, J. S. (2015). Broadening the application of mixed methods in sales research.

 Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management, 35(4), 334-345.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.2015.1016953
- Jones, M.A., & York, S.L. (2016). The fragile balance of power and leadership. *The Journal of Values-Based Leadership*, 9(2), 1-14. http://scholar.valpo.edu/jvbl/vol9/iss2/11
- Jovanovic, D., & Ciric, M. (2016). Benefits of transformational leadership in the context of education. *The European Proceedings of Social and Behavioral Science*.

 Advance online publication. http://dx.doi.org/10.15405/epsbs.2016.09.64
- Joubert, G.C., & Feldman, J.A. (2017). The effects of leadership behaviors on followers' experience and expectations in a safety-critical industry. *South African Journal of Economics and Management Sciences*, 20 (1), 1-11.

 https://doi.org/10.4102/sajems.v20i1.1510
- Karabulut, A.T. (2016). Personality traits of entrepreneurial intention. *Procedia- Social and Behavioral Sciences*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.07.109
- Kelly, D.J., Baumer, B.S., Brush, C., Green, P.G., Mahdavi, M., Cole, M.M.M., Dean, M., Heavlow, R., Babson College, Smith College and the Global

- Entrepreneurship Research Association. (2017). Report on women's entrepreneurship. *Global Health Monitor*.
- http://www.fundacionmicrofinanzasbbva.org/revistaprogreso/en/womensentrepreneurship-report/
- Khan, S. N. (2014). Qualitative research method: Ground theory. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9(11), 224-233. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v9n11p224
- Khan, Z.A., Nawaz, A., & Khan, I. (2016). Leadership theories and styles: A literature review. *Journal of Resources Development and Management*, 16(1), 1-9. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/234696192.p
- Khoshhal, K.I., & Guraya, S.Y. (2016). Leaders produce leaders and managers produce followers: A systematic review of the desired competencies and standard settings for physicians' leadership. *Saudi Medical Journal*, *37*(10), 1061-1067. https://doi.org/10.15537/smj.2016.10.15620
- Kim, S., & Dombrosky, J. (2016). Economic impact of small scale events to the local economy: Case of Canfield fair. *Journal of Tourism Insights*, 7(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.9707/2328-0824.105
- Knauff, M., & Nejasmic, J. (2014). An efficiency comparison of document preparation systems used in academic research and development. *PloS one*, *10*(4), Article e0125830. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115069
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Practical guidance to qualitative research. *European Journal of General Practice*. Advance online publication.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092

- Kunaka, C., & Moos, M.N. (2019). Evaluating mentoring outcomes from the perspective of entrepreneurs and small business owners. *The Southern African Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small Business Management, 11* (1), 1-11.

 https://sajesbm.co.za/index.php/sajesbm/
- Kwame, A. (2015). Recognizing the contribution of female entrepreneurs in economic development in sub-Saharan Africa: Some evidence from Ghana. *Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship*, 20(1), 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1142/S108494671550003X
- Kwame, A., Asare-Yeboa, I.T., Quaye, D.M., & Ampomah, A.O. (2018). A critical assessment of work and family life of female entrepreneurs in sub-Saharan Africa: Some fresh evidence from Ghana. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 25(3), 405-427. https://doi.org/10.1108.jsbed-02-2017-0062
- Lattacher, W., & Wdowiak, M. (2018, April 13-April 14). Entrepreneurial learning from exit: How entrepreneurs learn and re-emerge stronger (Paper presentation).

 OFEL Conference on Governance, Management and Entrepreneurship, 7th

 Conference, Dubrovnik, Croatia.
- Leitch, C.M., & Volery, T. (2017). Entrepreneurial leadership: Insights and directions.

 *International Small Business Journal, 35(2), 147-156.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242616681397
- Leonard, S.M., & Gourgues, M. (2019). Communication that develops: Clarity of process

- on transformational leadership through study of effective communication of emotional intelligence. *Christian Education Journal*, *16*(2), 226-240. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739891319829484
- Li, C., Ahmed, N., & Qalati, S.A. (2019). Impact of gender-specific causes on women entrepreneurship: An opportunity structure for entrepreneurial women in rural areas. *Journal of Entrepreneurship and Organizational Management*.

 https://www.hilarispublisher.com/open-access/impact-of-genderspecific-causes-on-women-entrepreneurship-an-opportunity-structure-for-entrepreneurial-women-in-rural-ar.pdf
- Li, Y. (2016). How to determine the validity and reliability of an instrument. *Dscovery Center for Evaluation, Research and Professional Learning*.

 https://blogs.miamioh.edu/discovery-center/2016/11/how-to-determine-the-validity-and-reliability-of-an-instrument/
- Linnerberg, M., & Korsgaard, S. (2019). Coding qualitative data: A synthesis guiding the novice. *Qualitative Research Journal*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-12-2018-0012
- Maddox, B. (2018). Interviewer-respondent interaction and rapport in PIAAC. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 26(2), 182-195. https://doi.org/10.1108/QAE-05-2017-0022
- Mandal, P.C. (2018). Qualitative research: Criteria for evaluation. *International Journal of Academic Research and Development*, *3*(2), 591-596.

 http://www.academicsjournal.com

- Mariotto, F.L., Zanni, P.P., & Moraes, G.H.S. (2014). What is the use of a single case study in management research? Business Administration Magazine. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-759020140402
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research*(6th ed.). Sage Publishers.
- Mason, M. (2015). Sample size and saturation in Ph.D. studies using qualitative interviews. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 11(3), 7-19. http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs
- Mbonteh, R. (2017). SMEs: Levers for competitiveness. *Cameroon Business Journal*.

 https://www.cameroonbusinesstoday.cm/articles/626/fr/smes-levers-for-competitiveness-
- McCleskey, J.A. (2014). Situational, transformational, and transactional leadership and leadership development. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, *5*(4), 117-130. http://jbsq.org/wp-content/uploads/
- McBride, A.B., Campbell, J., Woods, N.F., & Manson, S.M. (2017). Building a mentoring network. *PMC Journal*, 65(3), 305-513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2016.12.001
- McCombes, S. (2019). Understanding different sampling methods. *Scribbr*. https://www.scribbr.com/
- McGregor, J. (2014, July 17). Remembering James MacGregor Burns and his leadership wisdom. *The Washington Post*. https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/on-leadership/wp/2014/07/17/remembering-james-macgregor-burns-and-his-

<u>leadership-wisdom/</u>

- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393615597674
- Megheirkouni, M., Amarchi, A., & Jallo, S.M. (2018). Transformational and transactional leadership and skills approach: Insights on stadium management.

 *International Journal of Public Leadership. Advance online publication, 14(4), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPL-06-2018-0029
- Merriam, S. B. (2014). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (3rd ed.). John Wiley & Sons Publishers
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. (4th ed.). John Wiley & Sons Publishers
- Metwally, D., Ruiz-Palomino, P., Metwally, M., & Gartzia, L. (2019). How ethical leadership shapes employees' readiness to change: The mediating role of an organizational culture of effectiveness. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *14*(4), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02493
- Meyer, N. (2018). Research on female entrepreneurship: Are we doing enough? *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, 17(2), 158-169. https://doi.org/10.17512/pjms.2018.17.2.14
- Meyer, N., & Mostert, C. (2016). Perceived barriers and success factors of female entrepreneurs enrolled in an entrepreneurial programme. *International Journal of Social Sciences and Humanity Studies*.

- https://www.researchgate.net/publication/313651151_perceived_barriers_and_success_factors_of_female_entrepreneurs_enrolled_in_an_entrepreneurial_program_me/link/58a19268a6fdccf5e96f08ab/download_
- Middleton, F. (2020). Reliability vs validity: What's the difference? *Scribbr*. https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/reliability-vs-validity/
- Ministry of Small and Medium Sized Enterprises, Social Economy and Handicrafts.

 (2018). Summary notes of the 2018 statistical yearbook and economic outlook.

 https://example.com/
- Mishra, R.D., & Rasundram, J. (2017). Triangulation, an essential tool to enhance the validity of a case study. *Scholarly Research Journal for Interdisciplinary Studies*, *4*(31), 69-74. http://www.srjis.com/pages/pdfFiles/149544193514.%20RASHI%20DUBEY%2
 - http://www.srjis.com/pages/pdfFiles/149544193514.%20RASHI%20DUBEY%2

 OMISHRA%20AND%20Jovita%20Rasundram.pdf
- Mittal, R. (2015). Charismatic and transformational leadership styles: A cross-cultural perspective. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 10(3), 26-33. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v10n3p26
- Mkheimer, I. (2018). The impact of leadership styles on business success: A case study on SMEs in Amman. *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 8(2), 1-9. https://www.hilarispublisher.com/abstract/the-impact-of-leadership-styles-on-business-success-a-case-study-on-smes-in-amman-21712.html
- Molina-Azorin, J.F. (2016). Mixed methods research: An opportunity to improve our studies and our research skills. *European Journal of Management and Business*

- Economics, 25(2), 37-38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redeen.2016.05.001
- Molonge, K.T. (2016). Growth potentials and constraints of micro, small and medium enterprises in the South West Region of Cameroon (Unpublished master's thesis).

 Pan African Institute for Development, West Africa, Cameroon.
- Montgomery, B. (2017). Mapping a mentoring roadmap and developing a supportive network for strategic career advancement. *Sage Journals*, 7(2), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244017710288
- Moore, J.H., & Wang, Z. (2017). Mentoring top leadership promotes organizational innovativeness through psychological safety and is moderated by cognitive adaptability. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8(112), 318-429.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00318
- Morgan-Trimmer, S., & Wood, F. (2016). Ethnographic methods for process evaluations of complex health behavior intentions. *Trials*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-016-1340-2
- Mortari, L. (2015). Reflectivity in research practice: An overview of different perspectives. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406915618045
- Mourao, L. (2018). The role of leadership in the professional development of subordinates. *IntechOpen*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.76056
- Msila, V., & Netshitangani, T. (2017). Women and leadership: Learning from an African philosophy (1st ed). Sunpress Publishers.

- Nandi, A., & Platt, L. (2017). Are there differences in responses to social identity questions in face-to-face versus telephone interviews? Results of an experiment on a longitudinal survey. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(2), 151-166. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1165495
- Nesrine, B. (2015). An investigation of women entrepreneurship: Motives and barriers to business start-up in the Arab world. *Journal of Women Entrepreneurship and Education*, *1*(2), 86-104. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/44685675.pdf
- Neubauer, B.E., Witkop, C.T. & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspect Med Educ*, 8, 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- Nikezic, S., Puric, S., & Puric, J. (2012). Transactional and transformational leadership:

 Development through change. *International Journal for Quality Research*, 6(3),

 285-296. http://www.ijqr.net/journal/v6-n3/11.pdf
- Northouse, P.G. (2016). Leadership: Theory and practice (7th ed.). Sage Publishers.
- Ntinda, K. (2019). Narrative research. *Handbook of research method in health social* sciences. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-5251-4_79
- Nwachukwu, C., Chladvoka, H., & Zufan, P. (2017). The relationship between entrepreneurial orientation, entrepreneurial competencies, entrepreneurial leadership and performance: A proposed model. *Business Trends*, 7(1), 3-16.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319318410 The relationship between entrepreneurial_orientation_entrepreneurial_competencies_entrepreneurial_leader

ship_and_firm_performance_A_proposed_model

- Ojo, S., Nwankwo, S., & Gbadamosi, A. (2013). Ethnic entrepreneurship: The myths of informal and illegal enterprises in the UK. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 25(7), 587-611. https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2013.814717
- Oltmann, M.S. (2016). Qualitative interviews: A methodological discussion of the interviewer and respondent context. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *17*(2). http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs1602156
- Olutade, M., Liefooghe, A., & Olakunle, A.O. (2015). Influence of entrepreneurial leadership skills on employees' motivation and job satisfaction: A leader member exchange (LMX) approach. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 5(9), 188-214. https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v5-i9/1829
- Omoruyi, E.M.M., Olamide, K.S., Gomolemo, G., & Donath, O.A. (2017).

 Entrepreneurship and economic growth: Does entrepreneurship bolster economic expansion in Africa? *Journal of Socialomics*, 6(4), 1-11.

 https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-0358.1000219
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Weinbaum, R. K. (2017). A framework for using qualitative comparative analysis for the review of the literature. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(2), 359-372. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol22/iss2/1/
- Ozaralli, N., & Rivenburg, N.K. (2016). Entrepreneurial intention: Antecedents to entrepreneurial behavior in the USA and Turkey. *Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research*, 6(1), 1-33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40497-016-0047-

- Pak, K., Polikoff, M. S., Desimone, L. M., & Saldívar García, E. (2020). The adaptive challenges of curriculum implementation: Insights for educational leaders driving standard based reforms. *AERA Open*, 6(2), 1-15.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858420932828
- Panda, S. (2018). Constraints faced by women entrepreneurs in developing countries:

 Review and ranking. *International Journal of Gender and Management*, 33(3),1
 18. https://doi.org/10.1108/GM-01-2017-0003
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, *3*(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Patel, M., & Patel, N. (2019). Exploring research methodology: Review article.

 International Journal of Research and Review, 6(3), 48-55.

 https://www.ijrrjournal.com/IJRR_Vol.6_Issue.3_March2019/IJRR0011.pdf
- Perreault, D., Cohen, L.R., & Blanchard, C.M. (2015). Fostering transformational leadership among young adults: A basic psychological needs approach.

 International Journal of Adolescences and Youth. Advance online publication.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.2015.1083451
- Polkinghorne, D.E. (2007). Validity issues in narrative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 13(4), 471-486. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800406297670
- Price, J. H., & Murnan, J. (2004). Research limitation and the necessity of reporting them. *American Journal of Health Education*, 35(2), 66-67.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2004.10603611

- Qin, C., Zhu, H., Xu, T., Zhu, C., Jiang, L., Chen, E., & Xiong, H. (2018, June).

 Enhancing person-job fit for talent recruitment: An ability-aware neural network approach. In The 41st international ACM SIGIR conference on research & development in information. https://doi.org/10.1145/3209978.3210025
- Radzi, K.M., Nazri, M., & Ali, S.M. (2017). The impact of internal factors on small business success: A case of small enterprises under the FELDA scheme. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 22(1), 27-55. https://doi.org/10.21315/aamj2017.22.1.2
- Rai, M.K. (2018). Issues and challenges of women entrepreneurs in India. *International Journal of Academic Research and Development*, *3*(1), 633-635. file:///C:/Users/MR0C61~1.NTO/AppData/Local/Temp/3-1-159-343-3.pdf
- Raj, M., Choi, S. W., Gurtekin, T. S., & Platt, J. (2018). Improving the informed consent process in hematopoietic cell transplantation: Patient, caregiver, and provider perspectives. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation*, 24(1), 156-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2017.08.037
- Ranjan, S. (2018). Entrepreneurial leadership: A review of measures, antecedents, outcomes and moderators. *Asian Social Science*, *14*(12), 101-114. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v14n12p104
- Rastbin, P. (2016). To investigate the relationship between transformational leadership with Inter-organizational entrepreneurship: A case study of Kurdistan Province Industrial Firms. *Journal of Tourism and Hospitality*, 5 (1), 1-7.

https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-0269.1000190

- Ravindran, V. (2019). Data analysis in qualitative research. *Indian Journal of Continuing*Nursing Education, 20(1), 40-45. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijcn.ijcn_1_19
- Reddy, C.M., & Srinivasa, V. (2015). Dialogue on leadership development. *IIMB Management Review*, 27(1), 44-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iimb.2015.02.001
- Reza, M.H. (2019). Components of transformational leadership behavior. *Monthly Peer Reviewed and Indexed International Online Journal*, 5(3), 119-124.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333798276 components of transformat ional_leadership_behavior/link/5d04a40592851c90043c93f8/download
- Ritter, S.M., & Mostert, N. (2017). Enhancement of creativity thinking skills using a cognitive-based creativity training. *Journal of Cognitive Enhancement*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41465-016-0002-3
- Robert, D., Stacie, S., & Katherine, A. P. (2014). Eligibility determination for clinical trials: Development of a case review process at a chiropatic center. *Trials*.

 Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-6215-15-406
- Rooddehghan, Z., ParsaYekta, Z., & Nasrabadi, A. N. (2015). Nurses, the oppressed oppressors: A qualitative study. *Global Journal of Health Science*, 7(5), 239-245. https://doi.org/10.5539/gjhs.v7n5p239
- Ross, P.T., & Zaidi, N.L.B. (2019). Limited by our limitations. *Perspective on Medical Education*, 8(4), 261-264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-x
- Ruth, A. (2018). Tackling female entrepreneur challenges in 2018. *Forbes Magazine*. https://www.forbes.com/sites/yec/2018/04/30/tackling-female-entrepreneur-

challenges-in-2018/?sh=72bcb6ed2304

- Sadera, J.M., Bueno, D.C., & Macaspac, D.A. (2019). Entrepreneurial skills for women in the rural communities. *Institutional Multidisciplinary Research and Development Journal*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.30263.57767
- Sanchez-Garcia, J.C., Vargas-Morua, G., & Hernandez-Sanchez, B.K. (2018).

 Entrepreneur's well-being: A bibliometric review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9(1), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01696
- Sanner-Stiehr, E., & Kueny, C.R. (2017). From the top-down: Transformational leadership consideration for health organizations. *Journal of Hospital Administration*, 6(4), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.5430/jha.v6n4p1
- Sartori, R., Costantini, A., Ceschi, A., & Tommasi, F. (2018). How do you manage change in organizations? Training, development, innovation and their relationships. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*(1), 1-13. http://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00313
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2015). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.
- Savrul, L.M. (2017). The impact of entrepreneurship on economic growth: GEM data analysis. *Journal of Management, Marketing and Logistics*, *4*(3), 320-326. https://doi.org/10.17261/Pressacademia.2017.494
- Saiyed, A.A.M. (2019). The role of leadership in business model innovation: A case of an entrepreneurial firm in India. *New England Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 22(2),

- 70-88. https://doi.org/10.1108/NEJE-08-2019-0040
- Schneider, J.W. (2015). Null hypothesis significance tests. A mix-up of two different theories: The basis for widespread confusion and numerous misinterpretations. *Scientometrics*, 102(1), 411- 432. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-014-0340-5
- Schoonenboom, J., & Johnson, R.B. (2017). How to conduct a mixed method research design. *Cologne Journal of Sociology and Social Psychology*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11577-017-0454-1
- Shah, S.M.M., Abhamid, K., Shah, M. & Hamid (2015). Transactional leadership and job performance: An empirical investigation. *Journal of Management and Business*, 2(22), 70-80. https://doi.org/10.30537/sijmb.v2i2.94
- Shaw, L. (2020). Calculating the time it will take to do the semistructured interviews.

 Strategic Planet. https://www.strategic-planet.com/2020/04/calculating-the-time-it-will-take-to-do-the-semi-structured-interviews/
- Shidur, R. (2017). The advantages and disadvantages of using qualitative and quantitative approaches and methods in language "testing and assessment" research: A literature review. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 6(1), 102-112. https://doi.org/10.5539/jel.v6n1p102
- Silva, D.A., & Mendis, B.A. (2017). Male vs female leaders: Analysis of transformational, transactional and laissez-faire women leadership styles.

 *European Journal of Business and Management, 9(9), 19-26.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/334495020 Male vs Female Leaders

 Analysis_of_Transformational_Transactional_Laissez-

faire_Women_Leadership_Styles

- Sim, J., & Waterfield, J. (2019). Focus group methodology: Some ethical challenges.

 Quality and Quantity. Advance online publication.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-019-00914-5
- Sloan, A., & Bowe, B. (2014). Phenomenology and hermeneutic phenomenology: The philosophy, the methodologies and using hermeneutic phenomenology to investigate lecturers' experiences of curriculum design. *Quality and Quantity*, 48(3), 1291-1303. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-013-9835-3
- Smith, A. (2016). Data collection dangers. *ITNOW*, *57*(1), 10-12. https://doi.org/10.1093/itnow/bwv004
- Song, H.N., Kee, D.M.H., & Ramayah, T. (2016). The role of transformational leadership, entrepreneurial competence and technical competence in entrepreneurial success of owner-managed SMEs. *Journal of General Management*, 42(1), 23-43. https://doi/10.117/03063071604200103
- Sooniste, T., Granhag, P. A., Stromwall, L. A., & Vrij, A. (2015). Statements about true and false intentions: Using the cognitive interview to magnify the differences. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*. Advance online publication.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/sjop.12216
- Sousa, M.J. (2018). Entrepreneurship skills development in higher education courses for team leaders. *Administrative Sciences*, 8(2), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci8020018
- Sorsa, M. A., Kiikkala, I., & Astedt-Kurki, P. (2015). Bracketing as a skill in conducting

- unstructured qualitative interviews. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(4), 8-12. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.22.4.8.e1317
- Steinhoff, R.L. (2015). Natural born leaders: Use of a self-assessment tool and benefits to coaching and development. *Journal of Practical Consulting*, *5*(2), 19-28. https://www.regent.edu/acad/global/publications/jpc/vol5iss2/Steinhoff.pdf
- Sotiroska, I.K., Zorica, M., & Elisaveta, S. (2019). The preferred leadership and followership styles of employees in state and private-owned organizations in Serbia and Macedonia. *Journal of East European Management Studies*, 24(2), 305-323. https://doi.org/10.5771/0949-6181-2019-2-305
- Stiehr, E.S., & Kueny, C.R. (2017). From the top-down: Transformational leadership considerations for health care organizations. *Journal of Hospital Administration*, 6(4), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.5430/jha.v6n4p1
- Stokes, Y., Jacob, J. D., Gifford, W., Squires, J., & Vandyk, A. (2017). Exploring nurses' knowledge and experiences related to trauma-informed care. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*. Advance online publication.

 https://doi.org:10.1177/2333393617734510
- St-Pierre, J., Foleu, L., Abdulnour, G., Nomo, S., & Fouda, M. (2015). SME development challenges in Cameroon: An entrepreneurial ecosystem perspective.

 Transnational Corporations Review, 7(4), 425-446.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/291514926_SME_Development_Challenges_in_Cameroon_An_Entrepreneurial_Ecosystem_Perspective
- Stringer, E.T. (2014). Action research, 4 th ed. Sage.

- Su, F., Cheng, D., & Weng, S. (2019). Multilevel impacts of transformational leadership on service quality: Evidence from China. *Frontiers in Psychology*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/:10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01252
- Sucheta, A., & Usha, L. (2017). An exploratory study on the development of women entrepreneurs: Indian cases. *Journal of Research in Marketing and*Entrepreneurship, 18(2), 232-247. https://doi.org/10.1108/JRME-04-2015-0024
- Sunderman, H.M., Headrick, J., & McCain, K. (2020). Addressing complex issues and crisis in higher education with an adaptive leadership framework. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*. Advance onlince publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/00091383.2020.1839322
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226-231. https://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1456
- Syed, A.M., Alaraifi, A., & Ahmad, S. (2019). Entrepreneurs in Saudi Arabia: Risk attitude and predisposition towards risk management. *Journal of Entrepreneurship Education*, 22(4), 1-18.

 https://www.abacademies.org/articles/entrepreneurs-in-saudi-arabia-risk-attitude-and-predisposition-towards-risk-management-8456.html
- Tengi, M.L., Mansor, M., & Hashim, Z. (2017). A review of the theory of transformational leadership for schools. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 7(3), 792-799.

http://dx.doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v7-i3/2847

- Teruel, M. A., Navarro, E., González, P., López-Jaquero, V., & Montero, F. (2016).

 Applying thematic analysis to define an awareness interpretation for collaborative computer games. *Information and Software Technology*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infsof.2016.01.009
- The International Institute of Events Management. (2018). What is event planning? Four unique perspectives from event planning experts. https://institute-of-event-management.com/what-is-event-planning
- Thirusha, N., & Neil, P. (2018). Re-envisioning member checking and communicating results as accountability practice in qualitative research: A South African community-based organization example. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*.

 Advance online publication. http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3153.
- Thomas, D.R. (2016). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Quality Research in Psychology*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435
- Toros, E., & Altinay, M. (2018). Women entrepreneurs as employers. *IntechOpen*.

 Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.80309
- Tow, H. (2019). *15 essential events planning skills you need to succeed.*https://learn.g2.com/event-planning-skills
- Tsambou, A.D., & Kamga, B.F. (2017). Performance perspectives for small and medium enterprises in Cameroon: Innovation and ICTs. *Timisoara Journal of Economics and Business*, 10(1), 68-87. https://doi.org/10.1515/tjeb-2017-0005

- Turkina, E. (2017). The importance of networking to entrepreneurship: Montreal's artificial intelligence cluster and its born global firm elements AI. *Journal of Small Business and Entrepreneurship*, 30(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1080/08276331.2017.1402154
- UK Essays. (2018, November). The impact of events on host areas.

 https://www.ukessays.com/essays/tourism/the-impact-of-events-on-host-areas-tourism-essay.php
- Varaki, B. S., Floden, R. E., & Kalatehjafarabadi, T. J. (2015). Para-quantitative methodology: Reclaiming experimentalism in educational research. *Open Review of Educational Research*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/23265507.2014.986189
- Vasileiou, K., Thorpe, S., Barnett, J., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1186/s1874-018-0594-7
- Veronica, M. O. (2017). Effectiveness of transformational leadership style in secondary schools in Nigeria. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 8(9), 135-140. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1138836

- Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, methods, and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research*, 10(1), 69-80.
 - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/256024036_The_Research_Design_Maze_Understanding_Paradigms_Cases_Methods_and_Methodologies_
- Walsh, G.S., & Cunningham, J.A. (2016). Business failure and entrepreneurship: Emergence, evolution and future research. *Foundation and Trends in Entrepreneurship*, 12(3), 163-285. https://doi.org/10.1561/0300000063
- Wargo, W.G. (2015). Identifying assumptions and limitations for your dissertation.

 https://www.academicinfocenter.com/identifying-assumptions-and-limitations-for-your-dissertation.html
- Watkins, D.C. (2017). Rapid and rigorous qualitative data analysis: The RADaR technique for applied research. *The International Journal of Qualitative Methods*.

 Advance online publication. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1609406917712131
- Wibowo, A., & Saptono, A. (2018). Does entrepreneurial leadership impact on creativity and innovation of elementary teachers? *Journal of Entrepreneurship Education*, 21(2), 1-9. https://www.abacademies.org/articles/does-entrepreneurial-leadership-impact-on-creativity-and-innovation-of-elementary-teachers-7170.html
- Wolf, J. B., Howie, J. A., Parkinson, K., Gruenheit, N., Melo, D., Rozen, D., & Thompson, C. R. (2015). Fitness trade-offs result in the illusion of social success.

 Current Biology, 25(8), 1086-1090. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.02.061
- Wolf, L. E., Patel, M. J., Williams Tarver, B. A., Austin, J. L., Dame, L. A., & Beskow,

- L. M. (2015). Certificates of confidentiality: Protecting human subject research data in law and practice. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics, 43*(3), 594-609. https://doi.org/10.1111/jlme.12302
- Yadav, V., & Unni, J. (2016). Women entrepreneurship: Research review and future directions. *Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research*, 6(12), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40497-016-0055-x
- Yang, T., & Triana, M.C. (2017). Set up to fail: Explaining when women led businesses are more likely to fail. *Journal of Management*, 45(3), 926-954. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316685856
- Yildiz, S., Basturk, F., & Boz, I.T. (2014). The effect of leadership and innovativeness on business performance. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.09.064
- Yin, R. K. (2017). Case study research: Design and methods. (5th ed.). Sage.
- Yin, R. (2018). Case study research: Designs and methods. (6th ed.). Sage.
- Zahra, S. A., & Wright, M. (2015). Understanding the social role of entrepreneurship.

 **Journal of Management Studies, 53, 610-629. https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12149

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Research Topic: Leadership Strategies of Successful Women-Owned Businesses in Cameroon.

Guidelines

- 1. Ensure both I and participants follow covid-19 safety protocol during interviews.
- 2. On the date of the actual interview, before starting the interview, I will seek permission from participants to begin the audio recording.
- 3. The interview will start with standard scripts, which will be the same for all participants
- 4. Each interview questions will consist of follow up questions.
- 5. Upon data saturation, I will end the interview.
- 6. I will assure that participants' information will be kept confidential.
- 7. I will then collect the company documents at the end of actual interview.
- 8. I will set future date and time for member checking.
- 9. I will close the interview with a standard script, which will be the same for all participants.

Appendix B: Invitation Letter

Hello (Potential Participant), my name is Ntoko Henry Ajieh. I am a doctoral student at Walden University. I am researching to explore *leadership strategies of successful women-owned event planning businesses in Cameroon*. I am seeking 5 volunteers to participate in this study. Upon review of your LinkedIn profile, you meet research participation eligibility criteria. The eligibility criteria include that participants a) have a minimum of 5 years of experience in event planning business, (b) have successfully sustained their event planning business beyond 5 years, and (c) are female business entrepreneurs in Cameroon who started their event planning business.

I want to invite you to participate in this research. If you are interested voluntarily, please review the attached consent form. The consent form provides information on research guidelines and your rights as a research participant. If you are interested in participating, please review the attached consent form and reply to this email with the words "I consent."

Also, I request you to provide the date and the time that you find convenient for the interview. Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.

Thank you for your time and consideration

Sincerely,

Ntoko Henry Ajieh

DBA Candidate Walden University

Ntoko.henryajieh@waldenu.edu

Appendix C: CITI Certification

